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The region is evolving.
So are we.

Financial Highlights
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

Total income

56,897

61,340

68,342

63,359

55,527

Total income, net of interest expense

47,454

48,860

51,979

46,186

41,545

Total operating expenses

49,261

34,799

42,381

40,200

33,090

3,002

13,334

19,206

5,560

10,305

954,002

1,004,437

1,005,655

1,040,902

975,383

1,505,296

1,988,846

1,786,805

1,814,513

1,482,864

Borrowings and long-term debt

598,456

1,098,601

903,502

969,358

658,504

Equity

857,324

845,137

851,826

778,580

777,746

Return on average assets

0.2%

0.7%

1.1%

0.3%

0.7%

Return on average equity

0.0%

0.0%

2.4%

0.7%

1.3%

Debt to equity

112%

118%

106%

125%

85%

Equity to assets

57%

42%

48%

43%

52%

Liquidity to total assets
Administrative expense to average
development-related assets

32%

46%

40%

42%

33%

4.3%

3.3%

3.9%

3.8%

3.5%

$ in thousands

Statement of Income

Net income
Balance Sheet
Net loan and equity investments
Total assets

Ratios

Operational Highlights
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

$ in thousands

2015

2013

2014

2012

2011

Approvals
Number of projects

79

64

71

73

71

Number of countries

18

17

18

16

18

Approval volume

346,356

426,303

415,423

378,930

464,681

Resource mobilization

166,022

693,250

197,480

384,400

471,637

Disbursement volume

317,503

381,012

313,629

371,599

442,703

Mobilization volume

292,382

273,254

88,730

324,191

547,814

229

229

228

222

209

990,748

1,052,868

1,052,711

1,088,316

1,020,349

36,746

47,895

47,056

47,414

44,966

10,039

16,969

17,452

10,557

9,892

Impaired asset coverage

366%

282%

270%

449%

455%

Past-due loan percentage

1.0%

2.3%

2.2%

0.7%

1.6%

4,505

3,755

5,941

9,335

4,417

509

588

250

236

204

1,624

2,238

1,681

1,511

1,725

Disbursements

Investment Portfolio
Number of projects
Outstanding development-related
assets portfolio
Allowance for losses
Impaired assets

Technical Assistance
Donor approvals
Number of technical assistance
activities completed
Beneficiaries
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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

Chairman of the Board of Governors
Inter-American Investment Corporation
Washington, D.C.
Mr. Chairman:

Luis Alberto Moreno
Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors

Pursuant to the Agreement Establishing the Inter-American Investment
Corporation (IIC), I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the IIC
for 2015 and the audited financial statements, including the balance
sheet as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related statements
for the years then ended.

The year 2015 was a decisive one for the Corporation, as it embarked
on a journey of profound change following the decision of its Governors
and the Governors of the IDB to reorganize the IDB Group’s private sector activities into a single entity.
Starting January 1, 2016, the IIC has operated under an expanded mandate, leveraging three decades of
experience and private-sector expertise from across the IDB Group. The new Corporation provides a single
point of entry where private companies and state-owned businesses can access a diverse array of products
and services to help them grow sustainably.
As part of their decision, Governors agreed to a $2.03 billion capital increase for the Corporation, of which
$1.305 billion will consist of new contributions by its member countries and $725 million will be transferred
from the IDB on behalf of its member countries.
Fulfilling the Governors’ mandate has required the work and dedication of many individuals from across the IDB
Group and it is thanks to their tireless efforts that the IIC emerges from this realignment stronger than before,
more efficient, and better prepared than ever to meet the evolving needs of businesses across Latin American
and the Caribbean.
In 2015, the IDB Group was able to sharpen its focus and adapt to fast-changing demands on the ground. The
IIC reflects this spirit of renewal through a revised organizational structure and a new management team under
the leadership of James Scriven, who came on as General Manager in November 2015.
As a Group, the renewed vision of our activities with the private sector will enhance our ability to improve and
increase our support to the companies that contribute to generate wealth, employment and development
across the region. To carry this mission forward, the IIC will harness past experiences and continue to evolve
as it seeks to better serve its clients.
Yours sincerely,

Luis Alberto Moreno
Chairman
Board of Executive Directors
Inter-American Investment Corporation
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LETTER FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER

This annual report records the achievements of the Inter-American
Investment Corporation (IIC) in the year of its 30th anniversary. In 2015, the
Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) Group realigned its activities with
the private sector and, with the turn of the year, established the Corporation
as its single point of contact for public and private companies from Mexico
to Chile. As we embark on this new era in our institutional history, it is
with great honor that I take on the responsibility to lead the Corporation.

James P. Scriven
General Manager

Latin America and the Caribbean is a very different region today than it
was when the Corporation was founded more than three decades ago.
While many challenges remain, the region has made important strides
in economic and social development, lifting millions out of poverty and
forging a robust foundation for continued growth.

As the backbone of the economy, the private sector has played a key role in these developments. Private
companies provide the vast majority of jobs in our region, and experience has taught us that the Corporation
can be an important force to drive momentum.
More than ever, our new vision puts clients at the center of our activities, offering tailored products and
services and effectively leveraging our renewed financial strength and technical expertise to become a
partner of choice.
As part of this strategy, we will increase our field presence to work more closely with partners and clients and
stay attuned to their evolving needs. In addition, we will continue creating an institutional culture that blends
agility and speed with ambition to tackle much larger projects than we have in the past.
In 2016, we will focus our attention on key areas where we know we can create the most impact, including
agribusiness, energy, transportation, and financial institutions. We will also leverage know-how and best
practices from the public sector of the IDB Group and draw on lessons from beyond the region to build an
innovative institution driven by the desire to serve its clients.
We set out on this new journey determined to create sustainable economic growth for companies across
Latin America and the Caribbean. Our region’s achievements over the past thirty years are a testament to
the dedication and resilience of the businesses that drive its economies. As a development institution, the
Corporation will continue standing with them every step of their way.

James P. Scriven
General Manager
Inter-American Investment Corporation
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The region is evolving.
So are we.
The private sector plays a key role in driving economic
development and in creating opportunities for millions
of people across Latin America and the Caribbean.
It is a powerful vehicle for job creation, poverty
alleviation, and social inclusion, and also a source
of innovative solutions for some of the region’s most
complex development challenges.
Over the years, the Inter-American Development Bank
(IDB) Group, comprising the IDB, the Inter-American
Investment Corporation (IIC or Corporation) and the
Multilateral Investment Fund (MIF), has amassed a
wealth of experience in the private sector, working
with a diverse mix of clients that range from civil
society organizations and local businesses to large
corporations, financial intermediaries and state-owned
enterprises (SOE).
As a member of the IDB Group, the Corporation has
been at the forefront of private-sector development
in Latin America and the Caribbean, promoting
sustainable growth through a unique mix of financial
and non-financial products and services for the region.
With a view to leveraging the combined private sector
and SOE expertise across the IDB Group, a landmark
decision was taken in March 2015. The Boards of
Governors of the IDB and the Corporation agreed to
reorganize the IDB Group’s non-sovereign guaranteed
activities into the Corporation in order to maximize
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development impact in the region and to offer more
comprehensive services to clients.
The reorganization of the IDB Group’s non-sovereign
guaranteed activities creates administrative
efficiencies and provides for more integrated planning
and coordination across the Group’s private and public
sector operations. It provides a single point of access
to the Group’s full spectrum of products and services,
coupled with streamlined project processing and strong
oversight to ensure consistent standards and quality.
The Board of Governors also approved a $2.03 billion
capital increase for the Corporation, designed to
enhance its financial strength and to ensure substantial
lending levels.
Starting in 2016, the Corporation has a new
organizational structure reflecting a realigned
business focus in priority business areas, under the
leadership of a new General Manager and senior
management team.
The IDB Group emerges from this reorganization more
resolute than ever in its commitment to promote
development through the private sector across
Latin America and the Caribbean. The momentous
change it experienced in 2015 provides a compelling
example of the Corporation’s ability to adapt to a new
environment and the changing needs of its clients. As
these needs continue to evolve, so will the IIC.
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30 years of
experience
Over the course of thirty years, the Corporation
has been a strategic partner for Latin America and
the Caribbean promoting economic and inclusive
development through the establishment, expansion,
and modernization of private sector enterprises.
The Corporation became well-attuned to the region it
serves and developed creative solutions in response
and in anticipation of client needs in an ever-changing
economic climate. Focusing its support on sectors
and areas where financing is more difficult to obtain,
the Corporation continuously added new products
and services to its core financial offering, expanding
its reach through strategic partnerships to help small
and medium-sized companies grow, become more
sustainable, and access formal financial markets.
Since its creation in 1985, the Corporation
has approved in excess of $6.0 billion in loans,
guarantees and equity investments across more
than 1,000 operations. An additional $3.9 billion
have been mobilized through syndicated loans and
co-financing, leveraging its resources to increase its
development impact in the region.
As client needs have become increasingly complex,
the Corporation further evolved its non-financial
product mix and created the FINPYME suite of
advisory and training services to help businesses
increase their resilience and competitiveness.
Over the years, more than 11,000 companies have
benefitted from the Corporation’s non-financial
services, improving their corporate governance
practices, strengthening export strategies, and
boosting energy efficiency.

The Corporation continues to expand the reach of its
advisory and training services and has recently created
a series of online courses that have made decades
of development experience available to businesses
through the Internet. These online courses have
attracted close to 11,900 participants to date.
In an effort to share its expertise more widely, the
Corporation launched the FINPYME app in 2015.
This mobile application helps business owners and
executives improve the competitiveness of their
companies through a number of rapid assessment
tools and calculators. More than 3,000 users
downloaded the app in its first year. Over 600 of them
have completed one of the available evaluations.
In September 2015, the Corporation also inaugurated
its first FINPYME Forum—a space where banking
professionals, financial technology providers, private
sector companies, and other key actors came
together to discuss financial services and how to
make them more widely available to SMEs through
technology. More than 450 participants from 42
countries attended the event in Medellín, Colombia.
As it celebrates its 30th anniversary, the Corporation will
continue to leverage the experience of the IDB Group in
order to nurture new ideas for promoting economic and
social progress in Latin America and the Caribbean.
In 2016, the Corporation opens a new chapter in its
institutional history, operating under an enhanced
mandate to serve the region’s full range of private
companies and state-owned enterprises. As it enters
this new era, it will continue to seek out ways to
enhance its development impact in the region.
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1985 21 countries sign the
1985
Agreement Establishing the
Inter-American Investment
Corporation with $200 million
in capital and the aim of creating a multilateral
institution to support development through the
private sector in Latin America and the Caribbean.

1989

1989 The
Corporation
approves its first
projects. Among
them are a $2 million equity investment
in Capital de Risco S.A., a Brazilian
venture capital firm, and a $1 million
long-term loan to help Argentine port
administrator Terminal 6 double its
storage capacity.

Evolving
2006 The Small Business Revolving Line is launched. Now rebranded as FINPYME Credit,
the program allows the Corporation to provide SMEs with expedited loans of between
$100,000 and $600,000. Instituto Cultural Anglo-Uruguayo becomes the first
business to receive a loan under the new program and uses the funds to
build a secondary school in Montevideo. To date, the Corporation has
approved more than $28 million through FINPYME Credit, directly
benefitting in excess of 100 SMEs across the region.

2006

2012
2012 Fitch Ratings
assigns AAA credit rating
to the Corporation, highlighting
the Corporation’s high levels of capital adequacy and the financial sustainability of its
operations. The Corporation also issues a $350 million bond—its first placement as
part of an international medium-term note program. The bond is oversubscribed almost
immediately.
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1993 A $5 million senior loan and a $1 million subordinated loan finance the
construction of Costa Rica’s first private sector energy generation project. To
date, the Corporation has invested close to $240 million in renewable energy
projects with an installed capacity of more than 530 MW throughout the region.
1999 The Corporation holds its first environmental
training workshop for financial institutions. Later
rebranded as IIC Sustainability Week, the annual
event has drawn more than 700 participants
from 270 banks over the years.

1993

1999
2000 The Corporation launches FINPYME, a suite of advisory services
for companies to improve competitiveness, become more energy
efficient, enhance their governance, and raise their export profile.
To date, the Corporation has provided $14.3 million in technical
assistance, benefitting more than 11,000 SMEs under this initiative.

2000

2005
2005 The Corporation places its first local currency bond
issue in the Colombian stock exchange for 150 billion
Colombian pesos (approximately $65 million). The proceeds
of the issuance are used to fund loans in local currency for five
financial leasing companies, benefiting 1,000 SMEs. This is the first time that
proceeds from an operation of this kind provided by a multilateral organization are
reinvested in the local economy.

2015

2015 The Boards of Governors of the IDB and the Corporation
agree to reorganize the non-sovereign guaranteed activities of
the IDB Group into the Corporation. After the reorganization,
the Corporation offers a single point of access to all products
and services available to private companies and state-owned
enterprises across the region. Mr. James P. Scriven is appointed
General Manager to lead the IIC under its expanded mandate.
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Divisa Solar 10MW S.A., is building
Panama’s first privately-owned
photovoltaic power plant to feed into the
country’s wholesale electricity market.

$240 million
The Corporation has channeled close
to $240 million into renewable energy
projects since 1993.

3,000 homes
The solar plant will supply more
than 3,000 Panamanian homes.

10

DIVISA SOLAR 10MW S.A.
COCLÉ, PANAMA

By 2030, it is estimated that Latin America and the Caribbean will need almost twice
its current power capacity to cover the region’s growing demand. While this poses
a significant challenge, it also presents a tremendous opportunity, as the region
has vast renewable energy resources. In fact, research suggests that power plants
exploiting the full array of renewables in the region could achieve a combined peak
capacity almost seven times higher than that of all the world’s power stations.
To tap into this potential, the Corporation has
channeled close to $240 million into renewable energy
projects since 1993, financing the development and
construction of power plants with an installed capacity
in excess of 530 MW of clean energy.
The majority of IIC projects in renewables are smallscale hydroelectric plants, which make up 55% of total
installed capacity. Biomass and wind energy projects
account for 30%.
In 2015, the Corporation approved four renewable
energy projects for a total of $27.89 million. It also
entered a new segment by supporting its first solar
power transaction. The $11.9 million loan, funded by
the Corporation and the Canadian Climate Fund for
the Private Sector in the Americas, is helping Divisa
Solar 10MW S.A. build Panama’s first privately-owned
photovoltaic power plant to feed into the country’s
wholesale electricity market.
Located in Panama’s central Coclé province, it
is estimated that the 9.9 MW plant will generate
sufficient power to cover the annual electricity needs
of more than 3,000 Panamanian homes.

In addition to providing financing, the Corporation
helped the company set up an internship program for
female engineering students, fostering inclusion of
more women in a market often associated with men.
Up to four students from local universities will be
trained under the program annually. One intern was
recently hired on a full-time basis by Divisa Solar.
Despite its prime location in the sun belt region of
Latin America, Panama covers most of its energy
needs through hydroelectric and thermoelectric power,
making the country particularly vulnerable during dry
spells and in times of high oil prices. Photovoltaic
power can provide a sustainable energy generation
solution. Latin America and the Caribbean are already
at the forefront in this segment: in 2014, the region
installed 625 MW of photovoltaic capacity, a 370%
increase over 2013.
To further support solar expansion, the Corporation
approved another solar transaction in El Salvador.
Located in the La Libertad department, Parque Solar
Cangrejera is scheduled to start operating in early
2016, providing enough electricity for more than
2,800 Salvadoran homes.
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Incofin was one of the first
financial institutions to receive
financing under IFIP.

3,200
Since 2004, the Corporation has supported
more than 3,200 Chilean SMEs through
factoring operations.

IFIP
In 2015, the Corporation approved the Financing
Program for Small Financial Intermediaries (IFIP).
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$88.2 million
Between 2012 and 2015, the Corporation approved
$88.2 million for factoring operations.

INCOFIN S.A.
SANTIAGO, CHILE

As many SMEs in the region struggle to access essential financing, one effective
way of helping them has been by leveraging the extensive client networks of local
financial institutions.
Small financial intermediaries have proven to be key
players in expanding access to finance, as they often
complement the services offered by the traditional
banking sector with innovative financial products
including leasing, factoring, and microfinance.
Between 2012 and 2015, the Corporation approved
$88.2 million for factoring operations alone.

IFIP offers financing to regulated and unregulated
financial intermediaries, many of which struggle to
find appropriate financing in their local markets. The
program offers the benefit of a fast-track approval
process at the Corporation that streamlines loan
authorizations and cuts processing times to an
average of two months per credit decision.

One of the Corporation’s clients in the factoring
industry is Incofin, a Chilean financial institution
that received its first loan of $3 million from the
Corporation in 2014. Incofin buys accounts receivable
from local SMEs and provides them with cash on the
spot, helping them maintain liquidity. Since 2004, the
Corporation has supported more than 3,200 Chilean
SMEs through similar factoring operations.

Resources are provided to micro, small and mediumsized enterprises (MSMEs) for capital goods or
working capital financing. Resources can also be
used to finance mortgage loans for low- and middleincome housing.

In an effort to scale up its support to small financial
institutions such as Incofin, in 2015, the Corporation
approved the Financing Program for Small Financial
Intermediaries (IFIP). This new program helps small
and medium-sized financial institutions diversify their
funding sources through medium- and long-term
loans, subordinated loans, and credit guarantees.

Since IFIP was introduced in early 2015, the IIC has
approved ten loans under the new program totaling
$32.5 million. These loans are expected to generate
thousands of transactions with MSMEs.
Incofin was one of the first financial institutions to
receive financing under IFIP. The $4.5 million loan
approved in 2015 is expected to support more than
250 Chilean SMEs, opening up access to crucial
resources when they need them.
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KENUTH’S ELECTRIC COMPANY LTD.
NASSAU, BAHAMAS

In The Bahamas, an estimated 90% of registered businesses are SMEs. Many of them
face significant challenges in gaining access to both credit and business development
services. According to an IDB study, less than half of all Bahamian SMEs are able to
obtain commercial bank loans.
Due to the relatively higher risk of lending to smaller
enterprises, the local financial sector prefers to work
with larger companies, as they know such companies
hold ample collateral to secure financing.
Kenuth’s Electric Company Ltd. is one of the small
businesses affected by the relative scarcity of loan
products. The Nassau-based company provides
electrical and plumbing services to local businesses
and runs two hardware stores in the Bahamian capital.
When the company decided to expand one of the
stores, it was unable to find financing in the local
market. The family-run business was too small to
obtain favorable loan terms through the Bahamian
banking system and the loan tenors available were
too short for the company to grow sustainably.
In 2015, the Corporation approved a $500,000 loan
to Kenuth’s Electric, which the company is using to
buy land adjacent to one of its hardware stores to

expand the property. The company is aiming to finish
construction work in 2016.
The loan was made under FINPYME Credit, a program
specifically designed by the Corporation for SMEs
that seek small-scale financing between $100,000
and $600,000. To be eligible, companies have to
meet standardized criteria, which helps bring down
transaction costs.
FINPYME Credit loans utilize a streamlined approval
process, designed to minimize costs and provide an
agile response to SME financing needs. This enables
the Corporation to directly operate in smaller markets,
where larger corporations are serviced by commercial
banks but SME lending is still lagging.
Available across 17 of the region’s more vulnerable
economies, FINPYME Credit has benefited directly
more than 100 SMEs since 2006. A total of
$28.5 million has been approved under the program.

100+
FINPYME Credit has benefited directly
more than 100 SMEs since 2006.

17
14

FINPYME Credit is available across 17 of
the region’s more vulnerable economies.

$28.5 million
A total of $28.5 million has been approved
under the FINPYME Credit program.
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RECAP OF 2015
Financing
In 2015, the Corporation provided $346.4 million in
financing through 79 investment operations. An additional
$166.0 million was mobilized through syndicated loans and
co-financing, leveraging the resources provided directly by
the Corporation and increasing its development impact.
The Corporation has continued to broaden its reach and
has improved its ability to target the smallest of SMEs.
In 2015, the IIC approved 21 FINPYME Credit projects
averaging $240,500.
Nearly 70% of the operations approved in 2015 took place
in the region’s smallest economies, confirming the
Corporation’s continued focus on less-developed markets.
Investments in these markets now account for 47.3% of
the total outstanding portfolio.
In line with its development strategy, the Corporation
continued to focus on developing local capital markets
through local currency financing. In 2015, nine local
currency operations were approved in Mexico. As of
December 2015, 6.2% of the Corporation’s total
outstanding portfolio involved local currency financing.
The Corporation’s relationship with financial institutions is
very important. This year there was a special focus on smaller
financial institutions. By strengthening these institutions,
the Corporation has helped stimulate competition in the
regional financial sector. In 2015, the Corporation approved
18 operations with small financial institutions, for a total of
$58.5 million.
As of year-end 2015, our portfolio stood at $991 million,
with 69.5% concentrated in the financial sector. The
Corporation’s largest corporate exposure was with projects
in the energy and power sector, which accounted for 5.9%
of the portfolio. It also had major investments in agricultural
products (3.4%) and transportation and logistics (3.2%).
Advisory and Training Services under
the FINPYME Program
The Corporation has continued to expand its advisory and
training services in Latin America and the Caribbean. In 2015,
it approved $4.5 million and reached more than 1,600
companies, helping them improve competitiveness, adopt
best practices in governance, boost energy efficiency, and
increase export capacity. A special program introduced in
2013 provides targeted support to women-owned businesses.
Through IIC advisory and training services, clients improve
their competitiveness and access to long-term financing
from the Corporation and other financial institutions. These
services, together with financing, are key tools the
Corporation uses to support development through the
private sector in Latin America and the Caribbean. In 2015,
the Corporation approved donor resources for 42 technical
assistance operations for existing and potential clients
totaling $1.3 million. Donor resources covered 67% of the
cost of these advisory services.
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The value-added services of the Corporation are made
possible by special contributions and a series of trust funds
established by the governments of Austria, China, Italy,
Korea, the Netherlands, the United States, and WalloniaBelgium, as well as the Nordic Development Fund.
Development Outcome
Achieving positive development outcome is at the core of the
Corporation’s mission. By monitoring and evaluating its
projects, the Corporation ensures it has a positive impact in
the region and offers accountability to its stakeholders, while
improving project design and maximizing development impact.
Over the past seven years, the Corporation has made
significant progress in the scope and use of project level
monitoring and evaluation mechanisms. The Expanded
Annual Supervision Report (XASR) evaluates projects at
early operating maturity and has been the Corporation’s
primary tool for project evaluation since 2001.
The Development Impact and Additionality Scoring (DIAS)
system was introduced in 2008 to facilitate monitoring
and evaluation throughout the project cycle. The DIAS
system and XASRs allow the Corporation to assess
development outcome and additionality at the project-level
from appraisal through execution. The tools share a
similar design and use many of the same performance
categories and indicators in line with good practice
standards adopted by all multilateral development banks.
All XASRs are validated by the IDB’s Office of Evaluation and
Oversight (OVE) through independent evaluation reports. In
2015, OVE’s 11th annual independent validation report
concluded that 82% of the 28 IIC projects analyzed that year
achieved positive development outcome. The report also
concluded that 96% of these projects provided additionality.
Most of the reviewed projects were approved during the
financial crisis when access to financing at reasonable terms
was limited across the region. The Corporation played a
countercyclical role in this context, improving access to
financial markets and providing financing under favorable
conditions, which helped mitigate risks and improve project
sustainability. At the same time, the Corporation strengthened
companies and financial institutions by improving their
environmental, social, and corporate governance practices.
A major milestone in 2015 was the design of a new ex ante
tool for measuring the effectiveness of private sector
development projects. Named DELTA (Development
Effectiveness, Learning, Tracking, and Assessment), the new
tool was developed as part of the reorganization effort of the
IDB Group’s non-sovereign guaranteed activities. It aims to
harmonize existing approaches to measuring development
effectiveness. DELTA includes an evaluability checklist to
ensure that project proposals include results frameworks with
measurable indicators and monitoring and evaluation plans.
DELTA’s methodology is aligned with new evaluation
guidelines put forward by OVE in 2015. The new tool
replaces the Corporation’s DIAS and DIAS Plus tools.

Portfolio Approach—Projects approved in 2015
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Corporate Value Chain
DIAS Score

FINPYME Credit
Infrastructure
Large Corporate

5

Large Fl
Small Fl
SME

0

0

5
Financial Contribution Rating
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Average DIAS of Outstanding Projects by Region
All Regional 7.73
Caribbean, Suriname & Guyana 7.70
Andean and Bolivia 7.29
Mexico and Central America 7.28
Southern Cone 7.11
6.00

6.50

7.00
Average DIAS

7.50

8.00

Average DIAS of Outstanding Projects by Sector
Investment Funds 8.60
Oil, Gas, and Mining 8.36
Energy and Power 8.32
Livestock and Poultry 8.13
Services 7.59
Construction, Materials, and Fixtures 7.51
Education 7.40
Food and Beverages 7.39
Transportation and Logistics 7.35
Information, Communications, and Technology 7.26
Distribution and Retail 7.20
Financial Services 7.09
General Manufacturing 7.09
Hotels and Tourism 7.07
Fertilizers And Agricultural Services 7.03
Textiles, Apparel, and Leather 7.00
Aquaculture and Fisheries 6.98
Containers and Packaging 6.97
Agricultural Products 6.96
Health Services and Supplies 6.94
Utilities 6.78
Wood, Pulp, and Paper 6.33
6.00

6.50

7.00

7.50
Average DIAS

8.00

8.50

9.00
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THE IIC IN BRIEF

45

Member
Countries

Argentina
Austria
Bahamas
Barbados
Belgium
Belize
Bolivia
Brazil
Canada
Chile
Colombia
Costa Rica
Denmark
Dominican Republic
Ecuador
El Salvador
Finland
France
Germany
Guatemala
Guyana
Haiti
Honduras
Israel
Italy
Jamaica
Japan
Mexico
Netherlands
Nicaragua
Norway
Panama
Paraguay
People’s Republic of China
Peru
Portugal
Republic of Korea
Spain
Suriname
Sweden
Switzerland
Trinidad and Tobago
United States of America
Uruguay
Venezuela
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Investment Portfolio: $991 million

Hotels and Tourism 1.5%
Distribution and Retail 1.5%
Outstanding
Portfolio

By Sector

Food and Beverages 1.3%
Wood, Pulp, and Paper 1.2%
Livestock and Poultry 1.2%
Information, Communications,
and Technology 1.0%
Investment Funds 1.0%

Financial Services 69.5%
Energy and Power 5.9%
Agricultural Products 3.4%
Transportation and Logistics 3.2%
Construction, Materials,
and Fixtures 2.7%
Fertilizers and Agricultural
Services 2.3%

Outstanding
Portfolio

By Region

Utilities 1.0%
General Manufacturing 0.8%
Textiles, Apparel, and
Leather 0.8%
Others 0.7%
Health Services and
Supplies 0.6%
Oil, Gas, and Mining 0.4%

• Mexico and Central America
• Southern Cone 29%
• Andean Countries 27.8%
• Caribbean 2.7%
• Regional 2.3%

38.2%

2015 Investments: $346.4 million

Financial Services 53.0%
Construction, Materials, and Fixtures 11.2%
Energy and Power 8.6%
Agricultural Products 6.2%
Hotels and Tourism 4.2%
Transportation and Logistics 3.5%

By Sector

Fertilizers and Agricultural Services 3.2%
Food and Beverages 3.2%
Investment Funds 2.6%
Others 2.5%
Information, Communications, and Technology 1.9%

By Region

• Mexico and Central America
• Andean Countries 27.1%
• Southern Cone 14.8%
• Caribbean 5.2%
• Regional 2.6%

By Product

50.3%

• Loan 90.0%
• Equity and Quasi-equity 5.9%
• Subordinated Debt 4.1%
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Projects Approved in 2015
Country

Project Name

Sector

Approved Amount

Profertil S.A.

Fertilizers and
Agricultural Services

Kenuth’s Electric Company Ltd.

Services

Banco Ganadero S.A.

Financial Services

Bolibanana S.R.L.

Agricultural Products

Bomec Ltda.

Construction, Materials,
and Fixtures

NAKHAKI

Agricultural Products

100,000

VICAR S.R.L.

Distribution and Retail

500,000

Alturas de Ovalle

Energy and Power

1,861,976

Banco BICE S.A.

Financial Services

10,000,000

El Olivo

Energy and Power

1,880,250

Eurocapital S.A.

Financial Services

10,000,000

Incofin S.A.

Financial Services

4,500,000

Banco Pichincha S.A.

Financial Services

5,000,000

Almacenadora S.A.

Services

600,000

Alserro S.A.

Food and Beverages

150,000

Castle Sales Group S.A.

Construction, Materials,
and Fixtures

194,000

Caycha del Norte S.A.

Services

125,600

Chaso del Valle S.A.

Services

150,000

Continex Representaciones S.A.

Distribution and Retail

450,000

Coopealianza R.L.

Financial Services

Coriport S.A.

Transportation and Logistics

12,000,000

Davivienda S.A.

Financial Services

15,000,000

Mutual Cartago de Ahorro y Préstamo MUCAP

Financial Services

3,000,000

Argentina
$

6,000,000

Bahamas
500,000

Bolivia
3,000,000
140,000
80,000

Chile

Colombia

Costa Rica

3,000,000

Ecuador
Acería del Ecuador C.A. (ADELCA)
Agripac S.A.
Banco Internacional, S.A.
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Construction, Materials,
and Fixtures
Fertilizers and
Agricultural Services
Financial Services

30,000,000
5,000,000
6,000,000

Country

Project Name

Sector

Approved Amount

Ecuador (continued)

Genser Power Inc., Sucursal Ecuador

Energy and Power

2,000,000

ProCredit Ecuador

Financial Services

5,000,000

Telconet S.A.

Information, Communications,
and Technology

6,000,000

Avícola Campestre S.A. de C.V.

Livestock and Poultry

1,100,000

Banco de América Central, S.A.

Financial Services

15,000,000

Compañía Azucarera Salvadoreña S.A. de C.V.

Agricultural Products

10,000,000

JINSAL S.A de C.V.

Distribution and Retail

Parque Solar Cangrejera S.A. de C.V.

Energy and Power

Patronic S.A. de C.V.

Food and Beverages

Pollo Campestre S.A. de C.V.

Distribution and Retail

2,000,000

Banco Internacional S.A.

Financial Services

5,000,000

Seawind Key Investments Limited

Hotels and Tourism

7,500,000

Analistas de Recursos Humanos S.A.P.I. de C.V.

Financial Services

2,000,000

Consejo de Asistencia al Microemprendedor,
S.A. de C.V. SFP

Financial Services

4,000,000

Docuformas S.A.P.I. de C.V.

Financial Services

3,000,000

El Salvador

290,000
2,700,000
115,000

Guatemala

Jamaica

Mexico

Ecoblock International, S.A. de C.V., SOFOM ENR
Milenium Construcasa S.A. de C.V.

Construction, Materials,
and Fixtures
Construction, Materials,
and Fixtures

913,800
3,900,000

Progresemos S.A. de C.V., SOFOM, ENR

Financial Services

3,000,000

Residencial Atlas, S. de R.L. de C.V.

Construction, Materials,
and Fixtures

3,700,000

Servicios y Financiamiento Agrícola, S.A. de C.V.

Financial Services

2,500,000

Value Arrendadora S.A. de C.V., SOFOM, E.N.R

Financial Services

5,000,000

Banco de América Central, S.A.

Financial Services

10,000,000

Cukra Industrial, S.A.

Agricultural Products

Factoring, S.A.

Financial Services

500,000

Financia Capital, S.A.

Financial Services

500,000

Financiera FAMA S.A.

Financial Services

1,500,000

Genéricos Centroamericanos, S.A.

Health Services and Supplies

275,000

Kola Shaler Industrial, S.A.

Food and Beverages

450,000

Nicaragua

1,250,000
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Projects Approved in 2015 (continued)
Country

Project Name

Sector

Approved Amount

Banisi S.A.

Financial Services

3,000,000

Banistmo S.A.

Financial Services

40,000,000

Divisa Solar 10MW S.A.

Energy and Power

5,950,000

Multibank, Inc.

Financial Services

12,000,000

Agrofertil S.A.

Agricultural Products

6,000,000

Aliaga S.A.

Agricultural Products

250,000

Banco Atlas S.A.

Financial Services

4,000,000

Banco para la Comercialización y la Producción S.A.

Financial Services

2,000,000

GRANOPAR

Food and Beverages

280,000

Prorganica S.A.

Agricultural Products

350,000

Telecom S.A.

Information, Communications,
and Technology

100,000

Andean Power Generation S.A.C.

Energy and Power

3,500,000

Envases Los Pinos S.A.C.

Containers and Packaging

2,500,000

Financiera Confianza S.A.A.

Financial Services

6,000,000

Huaura Power Group S.A.

Energy and Power

12,000,000

Mountain Lodges of Peru S.A.C.

Hotels and Tourism

Fernandes Bakkerij N.V.

Food and Beverages

BANDALUX

Construction, Materials,
and Fixtures

140,000

Las Maravillas Sociedad Agropecuaria

Agricultural Products

230,000

Machin Cladera Sociedad Civil

Agricultural Products

130,000

Oackley S.A.

Agricultural Products

3,000,000

Pyxis S.A.

Information, Communications,
and Technology

Abraaj Latin America Fund II L.P.

Investment Funds

3,000,000

Inter-American Opportunity Facility LP

Investment Funds

1,000,000

Portland Caribbean Fund II LP

Investment Funds

5,000,000

Panama

Paraguay

Peru

7,000,000

Suriname
10,000,000

Uruguay

500,000

Regional

TOTAL
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$346,355,626

Aggregate Procurement
through 2015
($ in thousands)
Country

Argentina
Austria

Amount

$ 479,258
358

Bahamas

12,762

Barbados

11,250

Belgium

6,853

Belize

8,227

Bolivia

13,786

Brazil
Canada
Chile

283,615
—
175,296

Colombia

46,867

Costa Rica

77,152

Denmark
Dominican Republic
Ecuador
El Salvador

8,102
55,173
319,964
17,989

Finland

2,331

France

35,161

Germany

89,324

Guatemala

54,808

Guyana
Haiti

600
875

Honduras

59,829

Israel

52,845

Italy

49,873

Jamaica

53,483

Japan
Mexico
Netherlands

22,170
208,876
70,593

Nicaragua

59,656

Norway

13,666

Panama

43,530

Paraguay

79,565

People’s Republic of China

19,142

Peru

184,402

Portugal

—

Regional

25,530

Republic of Korea
Spain
Suriname

9,513
37,857
6,437

Sweden

19,760

Switzerland

27,972

Trinidad and Tobago

1,000

United States

877,525

Uruguay

128,113

Venezuela

42,531

Financial Results
The IIC reported net income of $3.0 million in 2015 after $13.3 million in 2014,
concluding thirteen consecutive years of sustained profits and accumulating
$173.1 million in retained earnings, equivalent to 25% of paid-in capital.
Development related assets, measured as gross loans and equity outstanding
(GLEO), decreased slightly to $1.0 billion from $1.1 billion in 2014, reflecting
the continuing weak global economic environment.
Total income net of borrowing-related expenses reached $47.5 million in 2015,
$1.4 million below 2014. Two factors were the main drivers of the change in
total income: changes in fair value of equity investment funds (-$3.0 million)
on the one side, and lower borrowing expenses (-$3.0 million) on the other
side. The decrease in borrowing expenses is due mainly to lower funding
spreads achieved by substituting expiring borrowings with less expensive Euro
Medium Term Note (EMTN) issues, and partly to a smaller funding volume in
the last two months of the year due to the repayment of a $400 million EMTN
issue in November. Operating expenses increased from $34.8 million in 2014
to $49.3 million in 2015, reflecting higher contributions to the Pension and
Postretirement Benefit Plans (+$4.3 million), as well as higher administrative
and other expenses, which increased by $10 million, including $5 million
expenses related to the private sector reorganization.
The IIC’s paid-in capital rose by $4.8 million due to payments made by
Argentina, China, Ecuador, Korea, Panama, Peru and Uruguay. Under the
Second General Capital Increase of the IIC, approved by the Board of
Governors on March 30, 2015, 54,762 shares of the original 80,662 shares
offered to member countries were subscribed. The remaining 25,900 shares
were reallocated among interested shareholders after including a first priority
allocation of such shares to member countries that wished to preserve the
preferential subscription rights granted to them by the Agreement Establishing
the IIC.
Asset Quality
The IIC maintained a high quality portfolio in 2015. The main indicators of
asset quality remained remarkably stable despite the economic slowdown in
the region that continued in 2015 followed by the depreciation of many
currencies in the region. The portfolio past due by one day or more decreased
from $23.3 million to $9.4 million in 2015, equivalent to 1.0% of the loan
portfolio. The ratio of impaired loans to loan portfolio outstanding slightly
decreased from 1.7% in 2014 to 1.0% in 2015. All transactions have adequate
collateral coverage and are closely monitored by the IIC. Moreover, due to the
IIC’s conservative provisioning policy, loan loss provisions coverage is over
three-fold for both past due loans and impaired loans.
Capital Adequacy
The IIC’s solvency ratios improved in 2015. Its capital-to-total-assets ratio
increased 14% from the prior year to 57% as of December 2015. This increase
was mainly driven by the $400 million EMTN repayment in November.
Considering its capital and loan loss provision levels as of December 2015, the
IIC has a coverage of 90% of its total development-related asset exposure.
Leverage and Liquidity
In November 2015, the repayment of the $400 million EMTN issue decreased
the borrowings under the EMTN Program and the total borrowings outstanding
to $598 million.
The liabilities-to-capital ratio decreased to 0.8 in comparison to 1.4 the
year before, staying well below the maximum level of 3.0 established by the
Agreement Establishing the IIC. The IIC’s liquidity ratios remained strong with
a liquidity to total assets ratio of 35% in 2015 and a liquidity to financial debt
ratio of 88% in 2015.
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Pension and Post Retirement Benefit Plans
The IIC’s Pension Plan and Postretirement Benefit Plan
(Plans) ended 2015 underfunded $24.1 million and funded
$1.9 million, respectively. The underfunded status of the
Pension Plan increased $1.9 million and the funded status
of the Postretirement Benefit Plan improved $4.6 million
from 2014. The changes to the Plans were largely driven by
current economic and financial conditions, resulting in an
increase to the discount rate of the Plans by 36 basis points
and 38 basis points, respectively.

regional developing member countries of the Corporation,
and one director representing other member countries. All
loans and investments of the Corporation in companies in
its member countries are considered by this committee.

Our Corporate Governance

The Board of Executive Directors appoints the General
Manager of the Corporation by a four-fifths majority of the
total voting power, on the recommendation of the Chairman
of the Board of Executive Directors.

Mandate
The Corporation’s mandate is to maximize its development
impact within a framework of long-term financial sustainability.
Mission
The Corporation promotes the economic development of
its regional developing member countries by encouraging
the establishment, expansion, and modernization of private
enterprises, preferably those that are small- and medium-scale.
Board of Governors
All the powers of the Corporation are vested in its Board
of Governors, consisting of one governor and one alternate
governor appointed by each member country. Among the
powers vested in the Board of Governors that cannot be
delegated to the Board of Executive Directors are the
admission of new member countries, the engagement of
external auditors, approval of the Corporation’s audited
financial statements, and amendment of the Agreement
Establishing the Corporation.
Board of Executive Directors
The Board of Executive Directors is responsible for
the conduct of the operations of the Corporation and
exercises all the powers granted to it under the Agreement
Establishing the Corporation or delegated to it by the Board
of Governors. The Board of Executive Directors establishes
the basic organizational structure of the Corporation,
including the number and general responsibilities of its main
administrative and professional positions. It also approves
the Corporation’s budget. The 13 executive directors and
their alternates serve three-year terms and represent one
or more member countries of the Corporation.
The four-member Executive Committee of the Board of
Executive Directors consists of the director or alternate
appointed by the member country holding the largest number
of shares in the Corporation, two directors representing
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Management
The President of the IDB is the ex-officio Chairman of the
Board of Executive Directors of the IIC. He presides over
meetings of the Board of Executive Directors but does not
have the right to vote except in the case of a tie. He may
participate in meetings of the IIC Board of Governors but
does not have voting rights.

The General Manager handles the day-to-day business of
the institution under the direction of the Board of Executive
Directors and the general supervision of the Chairman of the
Board of Executive Directors. The General Manager is also
responsible for the organization, appointment, and dismissal
of the Corporation’s officers and staff, in consultation with
the Board of Executive Directors and the Chairman of the
Board of Executive Directors. The General Manager may
participate in meetings of the Board of Executive Directors
but does not have the right to vote at these meetings.
The General Manager also establishes the Corporation’s
operating structure and may modify it to keep pace with the
organization’s changing needs.
Staff
As of December 31, 2015, the Corporation had 108 staff
positions dedicated to fulfilling its development mission, of
which 23 staff members were located in eleven countries
in the region: Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, El
Salvador, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru,
and Uruguay. Remaining staff members are based at IIC
headquarters in Washington, D.C. Staff members in the
region include ten investment officers, who work directly on
originating and developing new projects, and seven others
who are assigned full time to the direct supervision of the
IIC’s operations.
As of December 31, 2015, other staff members, divided
among ten divisions (Corporate Affairs, Debt Investments,
Development Effectiveness, Equity Investments, Finance,
Legal, Portfolio Management, Risk Management, Strategy
and Innovation, and Technical Assistance and Strategic
Partnerships) and one unit (Special Operations), provide
support for the IIC’s project, program, and corporate activities.

Compensation Structure for IIC Headquarters Staff*
Average
Salary/Grade

Average
Benefits†

2.4%

$322,453

$125,757

257,430

9.4%

210,251

81,998

155,381

233,071

3.5%

171,335

66,821

Technical

129,170

206,672

18.8%

141,928

55,352

4

Technical

113,651

181,840

17.6%

123,506

48,167

5

Technical

103,545

155,316

12.9%

105,751

41,243

6

Technical

91,920

137,878

3.5%

93,031

36,282

7

Technical

81,666

122,499

16.5%

89,370

34,854

8

Technical

71,638

107,456

4.7%

74,076

28,889

9

Support/Technical

63,282

94,922

7.1%

67,272

26,236

10

Support

51,026

81,643

1.2%

71,547

27,903

11

Support

44,452

71,125

2.4%

54,041

21,076

Grade

Position

Minimum

Maximum

E

Executive

$219,230

$384,094

1

Managerial

177,538

2

Managerial

3

Staff at
Grade Level

100.0%
* Staff in the region are compensated locally at rate bands determined by the IDB.
† Includes staff leave, end of service payment, medical and life insurance and other nonsalary benefits: home leave, tax reimbursement, appointment travel, relocation
and repatriation expenses, dependency allowance, education allowance, mission travel benefits.
Members of the IIC Board of Executive Directors, including executive directors, alternate executive directors, senior counselors, and counselors, as well as the chairman
of the Board of Executive Directors are compensated by the IDB.

Executive Directors and Alternate Executive Directors
(as of December 2015)
Executive Director

Alternate Executive Director

Argentina and Haiti

Andrea Molinari

Valeria Fernández Escliar

Austria, Belgium, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands,
and People’s Republic of China

Carina Lakovits

Gisella Berardi

Bahamas, Barbados, Guyana, Jamaica, and Trinidad and Tobago

Sherwyn Everade Williams

Jerry Christopher Butler

Belize, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua

Marlon Ramsses Tabora Muñoz Jose Mauricio Silva

Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela and Panama

Armando Jose Leon Rojas

Fernando Ernesto de Leon de Alba

Bolivia, Paraguay and Uruguay

Luis Hernando Larrazábal

Marcelo Bisogno

Brazil and Suriname

Ricardo De Medeiros Carneiro

Frederico Gonzaga Jayme Junior

Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Norway, Sweden, and Switzerland

Marita Olson

Christian Hofer

Chile and Ecuador

Kevin Cowan Logan

Xavier Santillan

Colombia and Peru

Sergio Diazgranados Guida

Tania Lourdes Quispe Mansilla

Dominican Republic and Mexico

Juan Bosco Marti Ascencio

Carlos Augusto Pared Vidal

Israel, Japan, Portugal, Republic of Korea, and Spain

Maria Rodriguez de la Rua

Ana Margarida Ferreira

United States of America

Mark Edward Lopes
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Management

FIRST ROW, LEFT TO RIGHT: James P. Scriven (General Manager), Orlando Ferreira (Chief Strategy Officer), Haydee Rosemary
Jeronimides (General Counsel), Luis Alberto Moreno (Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors), Gema Sacristán (Chief
Investment Officer), Christian Novak (Chief Risk Officer), María del Rocío Palafox (Chief Finance and Administration Officer)

Executive Directors and Alternate Executive Directors

FIRST ROW, LEFT TO RIGHT: Sergio Diazgranados Guida (Colombia), Sherwyn Everade Williams (Guyana), Tania Lourdes Quispe
Mansilla (Peru), Andrea Molinari (Argentina), Ricardo De Medeiros Carneiro (Brazil), Juan Bosco Marti Ascencio (Mexico),
Valeria Fernández Escliar (Argentina), Marita Olson (Sweden)
SECOND ROW, LEFT TO RIGHT: Carina Lakovits (Austria), Xavier Santillan (Ecuador), Marcelo Bisogno (Uruguay), Ana Margarida
Ferreira (Portugal), Mark Edward Lopes (United States), Frederico Gonzaga Jayme Junior (Brazil), Jose Mauricio Silva
(El Salvador), Carlos Augusto Pared Vidal (Dominican Republic)
THIRD ROW, LEFT TO RIGHT: Christian Hofer (Switzerland), Jerry Christopher Butler (Bahamas), Marlon Ramsses Tabora Muñoz
(Honduras), Kevin Cowan Logan (Chile), Maria Rodriguez de la Rua (Spain), Fernando Ernesto de Leon de Alba (Panama),
Armando Jose Leon Rojas (Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela)
NOT PICTURED:
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Gisella Berardi (Italy), Luis Hernando Larrazábal (Plurinational State of Bolivia)

Financial
Statements
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
The Board of Governors
Inter-American Investment Corporation:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Inter-American Investment Corporation (the Corporation), which
comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related income statements and the statements
of comprehensive income/(loss), changes in capital, and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes to the
financial statements.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects, the financial position
of Inter-American Investment Corporation as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

March 8, 2016
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BALANCE SHEET
USD thousands

December 31
2015

2014

$   14,946

$    7,571

478,918

584,429

34,743

331,583

—

39,902

961,272

1,027,154

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities
Available-for-sale
Trading
Held-to-maturity
Investments
Loan investments
Less allowance for losses

Equity investments ($9,047 and $13,027 carried at fair value, respectively)
Total investments
Receivables and other assets
Total assets

(36,746)

(47,895)

924,526

979,259

29,476

25,178

954,002

1,004,437

22,687

20,924

$1,505,296

$1,988,846

$   47,869

$   43,357

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Interest and commitment fees payable
Borrowings, short-term
Borrowings, long-term
Total liabilities

1,647

1,751

57,761

533,957

540,695

564,644

647,972

1,143,709

1,253,520

705,900

Capital
Subscribed capital
Additional paid-in capital

338,352

Less members subscriptions receivable

(888,709)

Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
Total capital
Total liabilities and capital

—
(7,547)

703,163

698,353

173,146

170,144

(18,985)

(23,360)

857,324

845,137

$1,505,296

$1,988,846

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF INCOME
USD thousands

Year ended December 31
2015

2014

$44,215

$44,468

INCOME
Loan investments
Interest and fees
Other income

2,389

1,137

46,604

45,605

644

677

12

67

Equity investments
Dividends
Gain on sale
Changes in fair value
Other income

(4,742)
40
(4,046)

(1,692)
33
(915)

Investment securities

7,778

9,267

Advisor y ser vice, cofinancing, and other income

6,561

7,383

56,897

61,340

9,443

12,480

47,454

48,860

Total income
Borrowings-related expense
Total income, net of borrowings-related expense
PROVISION FOR LOAN INVESTMENT LOSSES
OTHER-THAN-TEMPORARY IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON
EQUITY INVESTMENTS (ALL CREDIT RELATED)

(6,271)

92

717

289

35,428

30,344

8,248

3,951

512

391

5,073

113

49,261

34,799

3,747

13,680

745

346

$ 3,002

$13,334

OPERATING EXPENSES
Administrative
Pension Plan and Postretirement Benefit Plan expense
(Gain)/Loss on foreign exchange transactions, net
Other expenses
Total operating expenses
Income before technical assistance activities
Technical assistance activities
NET INCOME

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
USD thousands

Year ended December 31
NET INCOME

2015

2014

$3,002

$ 13,334

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Recognition of changes in assets/liabilities under the Pension Plan and
Postretirement Benefit Plan—Note 14
Unrealized gain/(loss) on investment securities available-for-sale—Note 3
Total other comprehensive income/(loss)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

6,053
(1,678)

(24,926)
250

4,375

(24,676)

$7,377

$(11,342)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL
USD thousands

Subscribed
shares

Capital
stock*

Retained
earnings

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income/(loss)

70,440

$693,700

$156,810

$  1,316

$851,826

—

13,334

—

13,334

—

—

4,653

—

$698,353

$170,144

Net income

—

3,002

—

3,002

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

—

—

4,375

4,375

4,810

—

—

4,810

$703,163

$173,146

As of December 31, 2013

Total
capital

Year ended December 31, 2014
Net income
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Change in subscribed shares
Payments received for capital stock subscribed
As of December 31, 2014

(24,676)

(24,676)

150

70,590

—
$ (23,360)

4,653
$845,137

Year ended December 31, 2015

Change in subscribed shares

54,762

Payments received for capital stock subscribed
As of December 31, 2015

125,352

*Net of members subscriptions receivable.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$(18,985)

$857,324

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
USD thousands

Year ended December 31
2015

2014

$ (306,946)

$ (379,782)

(11,047)

(5,021)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Loan disbursements
Equity disbursements
Loan repayments
Returns of equity investments
Maturities of held-to-maturity securities

356,799

371,384

590

3,209

39,850

—

Available-for-sale securities
Purchases
Sales and maturities
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sales of recovered assets
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

(85,026)
186,650
(2,386)
441
$   178,925

(293,764)
87,000
(1,199)
1,098
$ (217,075)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of borrowings
Capital subscriptions
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

(539,022)

(203,648)

50,795

400,000

4,810
$ (483,417)

4,653
$   201,005

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income

3,002

13,334

Change in fair value of equity investments

4,742

1,692

Provision for loan investment losses

(6,271)

92

(692)

783

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:

Change in fair value of investment securities
Realized (gain)/loss on sales of equity investments

—

(67)

918

(2,922)

Change in accounts payable and other liabilities

5,513

(2,589)

Change in Pension Plan and Postretirement Benefit Plan, net

3,313

Change in receivables and other assets

667

Trading investment securities
Purchases

(1,148,449)

(1,222,954)

Sales and maturities

1,443,830

1,204,236

5,775

12,786

$   311,681

$     5,058

186

310

Other, net
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities
Net effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

7,375

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1

7,571

18,273

$    14,946

$     7,571

$     8,579

$    11,751

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31

(10,702)

Supplemental disclosure:
Interest paid during the period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Purpose
The Inter-American Investment Corporation (the Corporation), a multilateral organization, was established in 1986 and
began operations in 1989 with the mission to promote the economic development of its Latin American and Caribbean
member countries by encouraging the establishment, expansion, and modernization of private enterprises in such a
way as to supplement the activities of the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB). The Corporation accomplishes this
mission by making loan and equity investments where sufficient private capital is not otherwise available on reasonable
terms. The Corporation also plays a catalytic role in mobilizing additional project funding from other investors and
lenders, either through cofinancing or through loan syndications, loan participations, underwritings, and guarantees. In
addition to project finance and resource mobilization, the Corporation provides financial and technical advisory services
to clients. The Corporation receives its share capital from its member countries, conducts its operations principally in
United States dollars, and limits operational activity to its twenty-six regional member countries. The Corporation is a
member of the Inter-American Development Bank Group (IDB Group), which also includes the IDB and the Multilateral
Investment Fund (MIF).
On March 30, 2015, the Boards of Governors of the Corporation and the IDB approved the reorganization of the IDB Group
private sector activities (or non-sovereign guaranteed (NSG) portfolio) into the Corporation and authorized the Corporation’s
second general capital increase (GCI-II). Effective January 1, 2016, the operational and administrative functions, including
personnel, associated with the IDB private sector activities have been transferred to the IIC (the Reorganization) in order
to maximize development impact and to offer more comprehensive services to clients. The IDB continues to hold the
economic interests in its NSG portfolio. Beginning January 1, 2016, the Corporation will provide loan servicing for the IDB’s
NSG portfolio and receive a servicing fee. The initial servicing agreement is for a period of seven years. The Corporation’s
staff increased from 108 as of December 31, 2015 to 174 on January 1, 2016 as result of the Reorganization. Beginning
in 2016, the employment related costs for these employees and the pension and post-employment benefits obligations
associated with these new employees will be reflected in the financial statements of the Corporation.

1. Basis of Presentation
The accounting and reporting policies of the Corporation conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
References to GAAP issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in these notes are to the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification, sometimes referred to as the Codification or ASC.
All amounts presented in the accompanying financial statements and notes are expressed, unless otherwise indicated, in
thousands of dollars of the United States of America (U.S. dollars, USD, or $), which is the Corporation’s functional and
reporting currency.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of estimates—The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. A significant degree of judgment has been used in the determination of the adequacy
of the allowance for losses on loan investments, the evaluation for other-than-temporary impairment on available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity investment securities and equity investments, the fair value of investment securities, loan and equity
investments, borrowings, and derivative instruments, and the determination of the net periodic benefit cost from pension
and postretirement benefit plans and the present value of benefit obligations. There are inherent risks and uncertainties
related to the Corporation’s operations. The possibility exists that changing economic conditions could impact the
Corporation’s clients and the global investment markets and have an adverse effect on the financial position of
the Corporation.
Cash and cash equivalents—Highly liquid investment instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or
less, other than those held as trading securities, are considered cash equivalents. The Corporation may hold cash
deposits in excess of FDIC insured limits.
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Investment securities—As part of its overall portfolio management strategy, the Corporation invests in corporate
securities, government and agency securities, and supranational securities according to the Corporation’s investment
guidelines. These investments include fixed and floating rate bonds, notes, bills, certificates of deposit, commercial paper,
and mutual funds.
Investment securities held by the Corporation are classified based on management’s intention on the date of purchase.
Purchases and sales of investment securities are recorded on a trade date basis. The Corporation’s portfolio classified as
trading is stated at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in income from investment securities. Fixed-term
securities classified as held-to-maturity represent securities that the Corporation has both the ability and the intent to hold
until maturity and are carried at amortized cost. All other securities are classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair
value with net unrealized gains or losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income. Interest and dividends on
securities, amortization of premiums, accretion of discounts, and realized gains and losses on trading and available-forsale securities are reported in income from investment securities. The Corporation’s investments in debt securities in Latin
American and Caribbean markets resulting from development activities are classified as held-to-maturity and carried at
amortized cost in the balance sheet. The Corporation held no held-to-maturity investments as of December 31, 2015.
The Corporation evaluates its available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities whose values have declined below their
amortized cost to assess whether the decline in fair value is other than temporary. The Corporation considers various
factors in determining whether a decline in fair value is other than temporary including the issuer’s financial condition, the
effects of changes in interest rates or credit spreads, the expected recovery period, and other quantitative and qualitative
information. The valuation of securities for impairment is a process subject to estimation, judgment and uncertainty and
is intended to determine whether declines in fair value of investment securities should be recognized in current period
earnings. The risks and uncertainties include changes in general economic conditions and future changes in assessments
of the aforementioned factors. It is expected that such factors will change in the future. For impairments of available-forsale and held-to-maturity securities that are deemed to be other than temporary, the credit portion of an other-thantemporary impairment loss is recognized in earnings and the non-credit portion is recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income.
Loan and equity investments—Loan and equity investment commitments are legal obligations when the loan or equity
agreement is signed and are recorded as assets when disbursed. Loans are carried at the principal amount outstanding
adjusted for allowance for losses. The Corporation, in certain instances, obtains collateral security such as, but not limited
to, mortgages and third-party guarantees. Equity investments include ownership interests in limited partnerships and
similar fund structures (LPs) and direct equity investments primarily in small and medium-sized enterprises and financial
institutions. Direct equity investments for which the Corporation maintains specific ownership accounts—and on which the
Corporation does not have a controlling financial interest or significant influence—are carried at cost less impairment, if
any. For LPs, the Corporation has elected fair value accounting under ASC Topic 825 and, as a practical expedient, relies
on the reported net asset value (NAV) as the estimate of fair value. The NAVs provided by the LPs are derived from the fair
value of the underlying investments held by the LP.
The Corporation considers a loan impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the
Corporation will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the loan’s contractual terms. Information and events,
with respect to the borrower and/or the economic and political environment in which it operates, considered in determining
that a loan is impaired include, but are not limited to, the borrower’s financial difficulties, the borrower’s competitive
position in the marketplace, the risk associated with the underlying collateral, the willingness and capacity of the sponsor
who organized the project to support the investment, the borrower’s management team, as well as geopolitical conflict and
macroeconomic crises.
Equity investments that are not accounted for at fair value are assessed for impairment no less than annually on the basis
of the latest financial information, operating performance and other relevant information including, but not limited to,
macroeconomic conditions, specific industry trends, the historical performance of the company, and the Corporation’s
intent to hold the investment for an extended period. When impairment is identified and is deemed to be other than
temporary, the equity investment is written down to the fair value, which becomes the new carrying value for the equity
investment. Impairment losses are not reversed for subsequent recoveries in fair value of the equity investment unless
sold at a gain.
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Variable interest entities—ASC Topic 810, Consolidation, provides for consolidation when a reporting entity is the primary
beneficiary for a variable interest entity (VIE), or if an entity does not meet the definitional elements of a VIE. Consolidation
is required if a reporting entity has a controlling financial interest and/or holds a majority voting interest in an entity. The
Corporation evaluated its investees and other entities with which the Corporation has contractual and other arrangements,
and concluded that the Corporation is not the primary beneficiary for any VIEs, nor does the Corporation have a significant
variable interest in any VIE, which would require disclosure.
Additionally, the Corporation does not hold a controlling financial interest nor holds a majority voting interest in any
other entity, nor does the Corporation hold significant influence over any entities. The Corporation holds investment
interests in certain investment funds, which are structured as LPs. The Corporation’s direct equity investments are
accounted for at cost. The Corporation’s interests in LPs are accounted for at fair value in accordance with ASC Topic 820,
Fair Value Measurements.
Allowance for losses on loan investments—The allowance for losses represents management’s estimate of incurred
losses in the loan investment portfolio as of the balance sheet date and is recorded as a reduction to loan investments.
The allowance for losses is increased by charges to expense, through the provision for loan investment losses, and
decreased by net charge-offs, or release of provision for improvement in the number and/or severity of previously
estimated losses. Considerable judgment is required to estimate the allowance for losses including determination of
appropriate risk ratings, potential severity of losses, expected performance of individual loan investments, economic
conditions in Latin America and the Caribbean and various other factors. The Corporation believes that the allowance for
losses is adequate as of the balance sheet date; however, future changes to the allowance for losses may be necessary
based on changes in any of the factors discussed herein.
The allowance for losses on loan investments reflects estimates of both identified probable losses (specific provision) and
probable losses inherent in the portfolio but not specifically identifiable (general provision).
For the specific provision and for loans evaluated for impairment, the determination of the allowance for identified probable
losses represents management’s best judgment of the creditworthiness of the borrower and is established based upon
the periodic review of individual loan investments. This estimate considers all available evidence including, as appropriate,
the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s contractual effective rate, the fair value of
collateral less disposal costs, and other market data. Because of the purpose of the Corporation and the nature of the
loans, secondary market values are usually not available.
For the general provision, the allowance for losses is established via an internal credit risk classification system that
estimates the probable loss inherent in the portfolio based on various analyses. The internal credit risk classification
system takes into consideration the risk of the borrower, the associated security or features of the transaction and the
country related risk, which combined produce a final rating that reflects the expected losses associated with the transaction.
The Corporation segments its loan portfolio as either financial institutions or corporate loans. Corporate loans are
extended to small and medium-sized enterprises operating in a variety of sectors with the three largest including energy
and power, agricultural products and transportation and logistics that are further detailed in Note 4. For certain loans, the
Corporation has obtained collateral security in the form of mortgages, third-party guarantees and other forms of collateral.
The required allowance for each loan or guarantee exposure considers: (i) the probability of default rate for each risk category
and applicable loss emergence period; (ii) the amount of credit exposure in each of these categories; and, (iii) the loss given
default ratio.
Each loan is individually monitored and rated to assign an applicable probability of default rate and a loss given default
ratio (LGD) on an at least annual basis.
• Probability of Default—A scorecard is completed which contemplates a variety of borrower-specific considerations
including, but not limited to: past experience and available market information, country risk, historical loss experience
for similar credits, the risk of correlation or contagion of losses between markets, nonperformance under sponsor
guarantees and support agreements, as well as an analysis of the financial statements and other information provided
by the borrower. The scorecard result produces an internal risk rating which is comparable to a long-term issuer credit
rating published by Standard & Poor’s (S&P) (in 2015 and 2014) and is mapped to historical probability of default rates
published by S&P (in 2015) and Moody’s (in 2014) for those same rating categories. During 2015, the Corporation
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refined its loan risk rating process to include a more granular and larger number of risk rating categories (ten rating
categories published by S&P as described in Note 4 versus five categories from Moody’s used 2014).
• Loss Given Default—In 2014, a single LGD ratio was applied to each of the subordinated and secured segments of the
portfolio based on average historical loss rate data from Moody’s. In 2015, the Corporation introduced a refined model
to separately calculate the LGD ratio for each individual loan or guarantee. A scorecard is completed that contemplates
a variety of transaction-specific considerations for each loan or guarantee, including, but not limited to: the seniority
of the instrument, the collateral type, third party guarantees and jurisdiction risk or creditor rights under the law of the
respective country. The scorecard produces an LGD ratio which is calibrated using empirical evidence of over 20 years
of historical loss data collected by S&P.
The Corporation utilizes externally provided industry data for probability of default rates and LGD ratios to calculate the
allowance for losses because of our limited historical loss experience, relatively small volume of business (less than
250 loans), and variation in loan size, sector and geographic dispersion of the portfolio.
Loans are charged off when the Corporation has exhausted all possible means of recovery, by reducing the loan and related
allowance for losses on loan investments. Such reductions in the allowance are partially offset by recoveries, if any, associated
with previously charged off loans.
Revenue recognition on loan investments—Interest and fees are recognized as income in the periods in which they
are earned. A loan is generally placed in nonaccrual status where collectability is in doubt or when payments of interest
or principal are past due more than 90 days. The Corporation does not recognize income on loans in nonaccrual status
and any uncollected interest accrued on a loan placed in nonaccrual status is reversed out of income and is thereafter
recognized as income only when the payment is received and is returned to accrual status once management has concluded
that the borrower’s ability to make periodic interest and principal payments has been demonstrated. Interest not previously
recognized but capitalized as part of a debt restructuring is recorded as deferred income, included in Accounts payable and
other liabilities1 in the balance sheet, and credited to income only when the related principal is received. Such capitalization
is considered in the computation of the Allowance for losses on loan investments in the balance sheet.
Net loan origination fees and costs, included in Receivables and other assets in the balance sheet, are deferred and
amortized over the life of the loan on a straight-line basis, which approximates how costs would be reflected under the
effective interest method.
Revenue recognition on equity investments—Dividend and profit participations received from equity investments that
are accounted for under the cost method are recorded as income when such distributions are declared and paid. Gains
on the sale or redemption of equity investments accounted for under the cost less impairment method are recorded as
income at disposition.
For LPs carried at fair value under the fair value option, unrealized gains and losses are considered in the determination
of net asset value and recorded as Changes in fair value of equity investments in the statement of income.
Guarantees—The Corporation offers credit guarantees covering, on a risk-sharing basis, third-party obligations on loans
undertaken for or securities issued in support of projects located within the Corporation’s member countries to enhance
the entity’s credit standing and enable it to complete a wide variety of business transactions. These financial guarantees
are commitments issued by the Corporation to guarantee payment performance by a borrower to a third party. The
Corporation’s policy for requiring collateral security with respect to these instruments and the types of collateral security
held is generally the same as for loans. Guarantees are regarded as issued when the Corporation executes the guarantee
agreement, outstanding when the underlying financial obligation of the third party is incurred, and called when the
Corporation’s obligation under the guarantee has been invoked. There are two obligations associated with the guarantees:
(1) the stand-ready obligation to perform; and (2) the contingent obligation to make future payments. The stand-ready
obligation to perform is recognized at the issuance date at fair value. The contingent liability associated with the financial
guarantee is recognized when it is probable that the guarantee will be called and when the amount of the guarantee can
be reasonably estimated. Any stand-ready and contingent liabilities associated with guarantees are included in Accounts
payable and other liabilities in the balance sheet. The offsetting entry is consideration received or receivable with the
1. References to captions in the financial statements are identified by the name of the caption beginning with a capital letter every time
they appear in the notes to the financial statements.
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latter included in Receivables and other assets in the balance sheet. In the event the guarantees are called, the amount
disbursed is recorded as a loan investment and specific reserves are established consistent with the Corporation’s
internal credit risk classification system. Income is earned as the Corporation is released from risk.
Borrowings—To ensure funds are available for its general corporate matters, the Corporation borrows in the international
capital markets, offering its debt securities to investors. The Corporation’s borrowings are carried at amortized cost. The
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts is calculated following a methodology that approximates the effective
interest method, and is included in Borrowings-related expense in the statement of income.
The unamortized balance of the borrowing issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability is included as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of the debt liability in Borrowings, short-term and Borrowings, long-term in the
balance sheet.
Interest expense on borrowings is recognized on an accrual basis and is included in Borrowings-related expense in the
statement of income.
Risk management activities: derivatives used for non-trading purposes—The Corporation may execute certain derivative
instruments for financial risk management purposes. The Corporation manages its exposure to interest rate movements
through the use of derivative financial products, which may include interest rate swaps and purchased options positions
(i.e., interest rate caps). The derivatives modify the interest rate characteristics of the respective financial instrument to
produce the desired interest rate, and none are designated in hedge accounting relationships. The Corporation does not
use derivatives for speculative purposes.
Derivatives are recognized in the balance sheet at their fair value and classified as either assets or liabilities, depending
on their nature and their net fair value amount. Changes in fair value of borrowings-related derivatives are recorded in
Borrowings-related expense in the statement of income. The Corporation held no derivatives as of December 31, 2015
and 2014.
Deferred expenses—Costs related to the issuance of debt and other financial arrangements are deferred and amortized
over the life of the related debt on a straight-line basis, which approximates how the costs would be reflected under the
effective interest method. The amounts charged to expense are amortized and included in Borrowings-related expense in
the statement of income.
Fixed assets—The Corporation presents fixed assets at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
which range from three to seven years.
Foreign currency transactions—Assets and liabilities not denominated in United States dollars are translated into U.S.
dollar equivalents using the foreign exchange rates at which the related asset or liability could be reasonably settled at
the transaction date. Revenues and expenses are translated monthly at amounts that approximate weighted average
exchange rates. Resulting gains and losses are included in (Gain)/Loss on foreign exchange transactions, net, in the
statement of income.
Fair value of financial instruments—The Codification requires entities to disclose information about recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements.
GAAP defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transfer between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. Fair value measurement
further assumes that a transaction to sell the asset or liability takes place either in the principal market or, in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
In determining fair value, the Corporation uses various valuation approaches, including market, income and/or cost
approaches. The Codification establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of
observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the observable inputs be used when
available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based
on market data obtained from sources independent of the Corporation. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the
Corporation’s assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed
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based on the best information available in the circumstances. The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the
reliability of inputs as follows:
• Level 1—Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Assets and liabilities utilizing Level 1 inputs include investment securities that are actively traded and primarily include
debt securities of the United States government and its agencies.
• Level 2—Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities that are not actively traded; or pricing models for which all significant inputs are
observable, directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.
Assets and liabilities utilizing Level 2 inputs include investment securities that are not actively traded, and primarily
include investments in obligations of non-United States governments, corporate bonds, derivative contracts, and
structured borrowings.
• Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.
Assets utilizing Level 3 inputs include certain loans.
The availability of observable inputs can vary from product to product and is affected by a wide variety of factors, including,
for example, the type of product, and other characteristics particular to the transaction. To the extent that valuation is
based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value requires
more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Corporation in determining fair value is greatest for
instruments categorized in Level 3. In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of
the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, for disclosure purposes the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair
value measurement in its entirety falls is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety.
Fair value for the majority of the Corporation’s financial instruments is derived using pricing models. Pricing models take
into account the contract terms (including maturity) as well as multiple inputs, including, where applicable, interest rate
yield curves, credit spreads, creditworthiness of the counterparty, option volatility, and currency rates. In accordance with
ASC Topic 820, the impact of the Corporation’s own credit spreads would be also considered when measuring the fair value
of liabilities, including derivative contracts. Where appropriate, valuation adjustments are made to account for various
factors, including bid-ask spreads, credit quality, and market liquidity. These adjustments are applied on a consistent basis
and are based upon observable inputs, where available.
The following methods and assumptions were used by management in estimating the fair value of the Corporation’s
financial instruments:
Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value.
Investment securities: Fair values for investment securities are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets as of the balance sheet date, when observable. For investments for which prices and other relevant
information, generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets, are not available, the income
approach valuation has been employed, using yield curves, bond or credit default swap spreads, and recovery rates
based on collateral values as key inputs. Investment securities are generally categorized in Level 1 and Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy.
Loan investments: The Corporation’s methodology to measure the fair value of those loans provided to certain
financial institutions through agreements that foster economic development, and for which a combination of
observable and unobservable inputs is generally available, requires the use of estimates and present value
calculations of future cash flows. The fair value of loan investments is estimated using recently executed transactions,
market price quotations (where observable), and market observable credit default swap levels along with proprietary
valuation models where such transactions and quotations are unobservable. Determining future cash flows for fair
value estimation purposes is subjective and imprecise, and minor changes in assumptions or methodologies may
materially affect the estimated values. The lack of objective pricing standards adds a greater degree of subjectivity
and volatility to these derived or estimated fair values.
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For certain of the Corporation’s corporate and financial institution loan investments, it is not practicable to estimate
the fair value given the nature (small and medium-sized enterprises) and geographic location of the borrower. The
Corporation’s loan agreements are tailored to the unique risk characteristics and needs of the borrower. Also, the
Corporation has been granted preferred creditor status. This status is not transferable, thus limiting the Corporation’s
ability to transfer assets and liabilities. Furthermore, there are few, if any, transactions with similar credit ratings,
interest rates, and maturity dates. Based on management’s experience, it is deemed that there are some countries
with no participants interested in the Corporation’s principal or most advantageous market given the unique country
risk, size, and term of many of the Corporation’s assets and liabilities. Therefore, in accordance with ASC Topic 820,
additional disclosures pertinent to estimating fair value, such as the carrying amount, interest rate, and maturity, are
provided. Additional information about loan investments is included in Note 9.
Equity investments: The Corporation purchases the share capital primarily of small and medium-sized private sector
enterprises in Latin America and the Caribbean and also invests in LPs. In most cases, market prices are not
available, and alternate valuation techniques require a significant degree of judgment. Additional information about
LPs carried at fair value is included in Note 9.
The Corporation’s direct equity investments are assessed for impairment. However, it is not practicable to precisely
determine a fair value in excess of cost as these are custom-tailored private placement transactions operating in the
Corporation’s regional member countries. Furthermore, contractual clauses generally limit the Corporation’s ability to
sell or transfer its participation in the Corporation’s principal or most advantageous markets given the size and scale
of the Corporation’s direct equity investments.
Taxes—The Corporation, its property, other assets, income, and the operations and transactions it carries out pursuant to
the Agreement Establishing the Inter-American Investment Corporation, as amended, are immune from taxation and from
custom duties in its member countries.
Accounting and financial reporting developments—In August 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update
(ASU or Update) No. 2015-14 that defers the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606), originally issued in May 2014, for all entities for one year. This revenue guidance does not apply to financial
instruments and guarantees. This ASU deferred the effective date for the Corporation to the annual reporting period
beginning after December 15, 2018. This ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the Corporation’s financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows.
In May 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-07, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), which eliminates the requirement to
categorize in the fair value hierarchy investments for which fair values are measured using the net asset value practical
expedient. The disclosure requirements for investments whose fair value is measured at net asset value (or its equivalent)
as a practical expedient are not affected by the amendments in this ASU. The ASU is currently effective for the Corporation
for the annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2016, and requires retrospective application to all prior
periods presented in the financial statements. Early application is permitted. The Corporation early adopted these
disclosure requirements in the notes to the financial statements.
In March 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest—Imputation of Interest (Topic 835), which simplifies the
presentation of debt issuance costs in an entity’s balance sheet. This ASU requires that debt issuance costs related to a
recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt
liability, consistent with debt discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs is not affected
by the amendments in this ASU. The ASU is currently effective for the Corporation for the annual reporting period beginning
after December 15, 2015, and requires retrospective application to all prior periods presented in the financial statements.
Early adoption of the amendments in this Update is permitted. The Corporation early adopted this presentation in the
financial statements.
In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810)—Amendments to the Consolidation
Analysis, which eliminates the deferral of FAS 167 for enterprises that hold investments in entities that are investment
companies. This new guidance applies to limited partnerships and similar legal entities and amends the considerations to
determine if certain entities are variable interest entities or voting interest entities. This new guidance also requires an
entity to evaluate whether fee arrangements to a decision maker or service provider represent a variable interest in the
legal entity and how interests of related parties affect the primary beneficiary determination. The ASU is currently effective
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for the Corporation for the annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption of the amendments
in this Update is permitted. The Corporation early adopted this Update, which did not have a material impact on the
Corporation’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

3. Investment Securities
Trading securities consist of the following:
December 31
USD Thousands
Corporate securities
Government securities

2015

2014

$15,957

$250,264

8,790

8,383

—

39,968

Agency securities
Supranational securities

9,996

32,968

$34,743

$331,583

Net unrealized gains on trading securities were $4 for the year ended December 31, 2015 ($197 net unrealized gains for
the year ended December 31, 2014).
The composition of available-for-sale securities is as follows:
December 31
USD Thousands
Corporate securities
Agency securities

2015

2014

$356,906

$459,318

112,163

113,029

Supranational securities

9,849

12,082

$478,918

$584,429

The fair value of available-for-sale securities is as follows:
December 31, 2015
USD Thousands

Amortized
cost

Gross
unrealized gains

Gross
unrealized losses

Fair
value

Corporate securities

$357,120

$521

$(735)

$356,906

111,951

313

(101)

112,163

9,881

  —

  (32)

9,849

$478,952

$834

$(868)

$478,918

USD Thousands

Amortized
cost

Gross
unrealized gains

Gross
unrealized losses

Fair
value

Corporate securities

$458,217

$1,513

$(412)

$459,318

112,482

   615

  (68)

113,029

Agency securities
Supranational securities

December 31, 2014

Agency securities
Supranational securities

12,086

    13

  (17)

12,082

$582,785

$2,141

$(497)

$584,429
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The length of time that individual available-for-sale securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position is as follows:
December 31, 2015
Less than 12 months

12 months or more

Total

USD Thousands

Fair value

Unrealized loss

Fair value

Unrealized loss

Fair value

Unrealized loss

Corporate securities

$120,574

$(435)

$49,813

$(300)

$170,387

$(735)

39,838

(101)

—

—

39,838

(101)

9,849

(32)

—

—

9,849

(32)

$170,261

$(568)

$49,813

$220,074

$(868)

Agency securities
Supranational securities

$(300)

December 31, 2014
Less than 12 months
USD Thousands
Corporate securities
Agency securities
Supranational securities

12 months or more

Total

Fair value

Unrealized loss

Fair value

Unrealized loss

Fair value

Unrealized loss

$96,114

$(412)

$—

$—

$96,114

$(412)

27,111

(68)

—

—

27,111

(68)

6,979

(17)

—

—

6,979

(17)

$130,204

$(497)

$—

$—

$130,204

$(497)

Changes in available-for-sale securities recognized in Other comprehensive income/(loss) are as follows:
December 31
USD Thousands
Unrealized gains/(losses) during the period
Reclassification of (gains)/losses to net income
Changes due to impaired securities
Total recognized in Other comprehensive income/(loss)
related to available-for-sale securities

2015

2014

$(1,628)

$250

(50)

—

—

—

$(1,678)

$250

Proceeds from the sale of seven available-for-sale securities were $71,109 during the year ended December 31, 2015
(none sold during the year ended December 31, 2014). Gross realized gains were $50 and there were no gross realized
losses from the sale of available-for-sale securities during the year ended December 31, 2015 (none for the year ended
December 31, 2014).
Investment securities with unrealized losses are the result of pricing changes in the current market environment and not
as a result of other-than-temporary credit impairment. As of December 31, 2015, no other-than-temporary impairment has
been recognized in the Corporation’s available-for-sale investment securities portfolio (none as of December 31, 2014).
Further, for securities in an unrealized loss position, the Corporation does not have the intent to sell securities within the
available-for-sale portfolio and it is more likely than not that the Corporation will not be required to sell prior to recovery of
the non-credit portion recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss).
The maturity structure of available-for-sale securities is as follows:
December 31
USD Thousands

2015

2014

Within one year

$153,157

$126,544

After one year through five years
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325,761

457,885

$478,918

$584,429

The Corporation’s one corporate security corresponding to a development-related asset with characteristics similar to
other held-to-maturity securities matured on March 29, 2015. The amortized cost and fair value of this corporate security
amounted to $39,902 and $40,423, respectively, as of December 31, 2014. There were $521 gross unrealized gains and
no gross unrealized losses for the year ended December 31, 2014.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, interest income, net of amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts, was
$6,998 ($7,506 for the year ended December 31, 2014).

4. Loan and Equity Investments
The Corporation has specific metrics for concentrations and monitors its investments in loans for credit risk and investments
in equity and LPs for market risk and any potential related effects of geographic concentrations. As of December 31, 2015,
the Corporation’s largest aggregate credit exposures were Brazil, Peru, and Panama (Brazil, Peru and Chile as of December 31,
2014). As of December 31, 2015, outstanding investments in loans and investments in equity and LPs denominated in foreign
currency amounted to $49,678 ($62,072 as of December 31, 2014). The Corporation’s multi-country loan and equity
investment exposures are designated as Regional in the following table.
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The distribution of the outstanding portfolio by country and by sector is as follows:
December 31
2015
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2014

Loan

Equity

Total

Loan

Equity

Total

Brazil
Peru
Panama
Costa Rica
Mexico
Chile
Colombia
Ecuador
El Salvador
Nicaragua
Uruguay
Argentina
Paraguay
Regional
Dominican Republic
Honduras
Guatemala
Jamaica
Haiti
Plurinational State of Bolivia
Bahamas

$110,345
103,688
97,864
99,979
82,380
88,515
83,608
81,631
34,127
32,332
31,795
29,595
24,517
14,264
13,706
10,117
9,039
6,621
5,453
1,134
562
$961,272

$   933
1,750
4,000
—
9,051
1,600
463
—
—
—
—
151
—
8,323
205
—
—
—
—
3,000
—
$29,476

$111,278
105,438
101,864
99,979
91,431
90,115
84,071
81,631
34,127
32,332
31,795
29,746
24,517
22,587
13,911
10,117
9,039
6,621
5,453
4,134
562
$990,748

$ 129,905
112,506
95,333
103,719
81,533
109,453
90,130
59,680
19,767
41,169
34,242
41,899
34,946
20,677
18,235
13,632
8,618
8,283
1,565
1,737
125
$1,027,154

$ 1,882
—
4,000
—
11,196
1,600
1,099
—
—
—
—
114
—
4,373
914
—
—
—
—
—
—
$25,178

$ 131,787
112,506
99,333
103,719
92,729
111,053
91,229
59,680
19,767
41,169
34,242
42,013
34,946
25,050
19,149
13,632
8,618
8,283
1,565
1,737
125
$1,052,332

Financial Ser vices
Energy and Power
Agricultural Products
Transportation and Logistics
Construction, Materials and Fixtures
Fertilizers and Agricultural Ser v.
Hotels and Tourism
Distribution and Retail
Food and Beverages
Wood, Pulp, and Paper
Livestock and Poultr y
Information, Comm. and Tech.
Investment Funds
Utilities
General Manufacturing
Textiles, Apparel, and Leather
Health Ser vices and Supplies
Oil, Gas and Mining
Education
Aquaculture and Fisheries
Ser vices
Containers and Packaging

$680,576
56,957
33,392
31,583
23,678
22,719
15,073
10,737
12,954
12,138
11,514
6,094
1,158
9,541
8,014
7,832
5,998
4,302
2,616
2,596
1,382
418
$961,272

$7,586
1,750
—
—
3,086
—
—
3,802
—
—
—
4,205
9,047
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$29,476

$688,162
58,707
33,392
31,583
26,764
22,719
15,073
14,539
12,954
12,138
11,514
10,299
10,205
9,541
8,014
7,832
5,998
4,302
2,616
2,596
1,382
418
$990,748

$711,237
84,230
35,947
26,231
10,019
26,251
12,890
18,353
13,636
7,442
9,562
2,680
1,158
9,986
12,141
8,997
6,592
8,651
5,145
13,310
1,000
1,696
$1,027,154

$5,051
—
—
—
3,611
—
—
2,575
—
—
—
914
13,027
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$25,178

$716,288
84,230
35,947
26,231
13,630
26,251
12,890
20,928
13,636
7,442
9,562
3,594
14,185
9,986
12,141
8,997
6,592
8,651
5,145
13,310
1,000
1,696
$1,052,332

USD Thousands

Loan and equity investment portfolio
The Corporation’s development-related assets are the result of lending and investing activities that include loans, equity
investments and certain LPs, investment securities and guarantees that promote the economic development of the
Corporation’s regional developing member countries through the establishment, expansion and modernization of private
enterprises, preferably those that are small and medium in size. The Corporation’s portfolio is segmented between
financial institutions and corporates. All development-related assets are individually evaluated for purposes of monitoring
and evaluating credit performance and market risk.
The distribution of the outstanding portfolio by investment type as of December 31, 2015:
December 31, 2015
USD Thousands
Loan
Equity

Financial Institutions

Corporates

Total

$681,734

$279,538

$961,272

16,633

12,843

29,476

$698,367

$292,381

$990,748

The distribution of the outstanding portfolio by investment type as of December 31, 2014:
December 31, 2014
USD Thousands
Loan

Financial institutions

Corporates

Total

$712,395

$314,759

$1,027,154

Equity

18,078

7,100

25,178

Investment security*

39,902

—

39,902

$770,375

$321,859

$1,092,234

*Represents an investment in a security that is issued in or by entities domiciled in regional developing member countries the proceeds
of which are used for development-related activities.

Loan and equity investments committed but not disbursed (net of cancellations) are summarized below:
USD Thousands
Loan
Equity

December 31, 2015
$191,022
22,498
$213,520
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Loan investments
The Corporation’s loans accrue interest at fixed and variable rates. The unpaid principal balance of the fixed rate loan
portfolio amounted to $189,098 as of December 31, 2015 ($237,139 as of December 31, 2014). The Corporation’s
variable rate loans generally reprice within one year.
An age analysis, based on contractual terms, of the Corporation’s loans at amortized cost by investment type as of
December 31, 2015:
December 31, 2015

USD Thousands
Financial institutions
Corporate
Total past-due loans
As % of loan portfolio
Allowance for loan losses

1–90 days
past due

> 90 days
past due and
accruing

> 90 days
past due and
nonaccruing

Total
past due

Current
loans

Loan
portfolio

$ 1,250

$—

$1,596

$2,846

$678,888

$681,734

135

84

6,292

6,511

273,027

279,538

$ 1,385

$84

$7,888

$9,357

$951,915

$961,272

0.14%

0.01%

0.82%

0.97%

99.03%

100.00%

$36,746

Coverage

392.71%

3.82%

An age analysis, based on contractual terms, of the Corporation’s loans at amortized cost by investment type as of
December 31, 2014:
December 31, 2014

USD Thousands

1–90 days
past due

> 90 days
past due and
accruing

> 90 days
past due and
nonaccruing

Total
past due

Current
loans

Loan
portfolio

Financial institutions

$     —

$—

$ 3,180

$ 3,180

$  709,215

$  712,395

3,104

—

17,014

20,118

294,641

314,759

$ 3,104

$—

$20,194

$23,298

$1,003,856

$1,027,154

Corporate
Total past-due loans
As % of loan portfolio
Allowance for loan losses
Coverage

0.30%

0.00%

1.97%

2.27%

97.73%

100.00%

$47,895
205.58%

4.66%

The Corporation’s nonaccrual loans on which the accrual of interest has been discontinued totaled $11,685 as of December 31,
2015 ($31,137 as of December 31, 2014). Nonaccrual loans that are current totaled $1,726 as of December 31, 2015
($10,928 as of December 31, 2014). Interest collected on loans in nonaccrual status for the year ended December 31,
2015, was $1,524 ($669 for the year ended December 31, 2014).
The recorded investment in nonaccruing loans at amortized cost is summarized by investment type as follows:
December 31
USD Thousands
Corporate
Financial institutions

2014

$   8,443

$   26,392

3,242

4,745

Total nonaccrual loans

$ 11,685

$   31,137

Loan portfolio

$961,272

$1,027,154

Nonaccrual/loan portfolio
Allowance for loan losses
Coverage of nonaccrual
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2015

1.22%
$ 36,746
314.47%

3.03%
$   47,895
153.82%

The maturity structure of the Corporation’s disbursed principal loan investments outstanding is summarized below:
December 31
2015
USD Thousands
Due in one year or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after five years and thereafter

2014

Principal
outstanding

Weighted
average yield

Principal
outstanding

Weighted
average yield

$250,056

4.52%

$ 335,004

3.91%

626,861

3.96%

591,532

4.31%

84,355

5.77%

100,618

5.74%

$961,272

$1,027,154

The Corporation’s investment in impaired loans as of December 31, 2015, was $10,039 ($16,969 as of December 31,
2014). The average investment in impaired loans for the period ended December 31, 2015, was $12,249 ($16,006 as of
December 31, 2014). The total amount of the allowance related to impaired loans as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
was $5,588 and $ 10,566, respectively. As of December 31, 2015, there were no troubled debt restructurings within the
loan portfolio (none as of December 31, 2014).
The Corporation received partial recoveries on corporate and financial institution loans for the years ended December 31,
2015 and 2014.
Changes in the allowance for loan losses by investment type are summarized below:
2015
USD Thousands
Balance as of Januar y 1

Financial
institutions

Corporates

Total

Financial
institutions

Corporates

Total

$19,794

$28,101

$47,895

$22,189

$24,867

$47,056

Loan investments charged off, net

—

Recoveries

—

Provision for loan investment losses
Balance as of December 31

2014

(1,763)
$18,031

(5,319)

(5,319)

441

441

(4,508)
$18,715

(6,271)
$36,746

—
413
(2,808)
$19,794

(351)

(351)

685

1,098

2,900

92

$28,101

$47,895

A summary of the Corporation’s loans at amortized cost by credit quality indicator and investment type as of December 31, 2015:
Internal Credit
Risk Classification
bbb+

December 31, 2015
Financial institutions

Corporate

Total

S&P Rating
Equivalent
BBB+

$ 25,000

$      —

$ 25,000

bbb

70,000

—

70,000

BBB

bbb-

145,327

—

145,327

BBBBB+

91,845

—

91,845

bb

bb+

166,952

4,063

171,015

BB

bb-

73,852

41,094

114,946

BB-

b+

46,511

76,586

123,097

B+

b

50,947

106,266

157,213

B

b-

9,704

31,961

41,665

BCCC–D

ccc–d

1,596

19,568

21,164

Total

$681,734

$279,538

$961,272
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The following is a general description of the risk classification. The addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign shows the relative
standing of a specific borrower within the major rating categories:
• bbb—Borrower has adequate capacity to meet its financial commitments. However, adverse economic conditions or
changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the borrower to meet its financial commitments.
• bb—Borrower has capacity to meet its financial commitments. However, the borrower faces major ongoing uncertainties
and exposure to adverse business, financial or economic conditions which could lead to an inadequate capacity to meet
its financial commitments.
• b—Borrower currently has capacity to meet its financial commitments. Adverse business, financial or economic
conditions will likely impair the borrower’s capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitments.
• ccc through d—Borrower is currently highly vulnerable and dependent upon favorable business, financial or economic
conditions to meet its financial commitments or is in default (d).
A summary of the Corporation’s loans at amortized cost by credit quality indicator and investment type using the former
credit indicators as of December 31, 2014:
December 31, 2014
Category

Financial institutions

Corporate

Total

A

$668,404

$248,521

$ 916,925

B

40,811

38,446

79,257

—

14,004

14,004

3,180

13,418

16,598

Loss

—

370

370

Total

$712,395

$314,759

$1,027,154

Substandard
Doubtful
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The following is a general description of the former credit quality indicators as of December 31, 2014 as follows:
Credit quality indicator

Description

A

This company has the capacity to meet its obligations and its financial condition is not being affected by
internal and/or external variables that could hinder this capacity. Projects classified as A are assigned a
general allowance between 0.40% to 6.15% for senior debt, and 0.55% to 8.45% for subordinated debt
depending upon the results of a specific analysis of their risk variables.

B

The company is able to meet its obligations but is facing adverse internal and/or external conditions that
could hinder its financial capacity if these conditions continue. Projects classified as B are assigned a
general allowance for senior debt between of 8.70% and subordinated debt of 12.00%.

Substandard

The current financial condition and payment capacity of the company may adversely impact collection
but no loss of principal is expected. The company’s cash flow generation continues to show signs of
deterioration. The company demonstrates persistent and well defined deficiencies which, if allowed to
continue, would result in an inability to repay the obligation to the Corporation in full. The company is in
payment default or exhibits an increased risk of default if the weaknesses are not corrected. Significant
operating or financial structure changes are required in order to restore the company’s creditworthiness.
Projects classified as substandard are assigned a general allowance for senior debt of 21.65% and
subordinated debt of 29.85%.

Doubtful

The company is unable to ser vice its debts and collection is unlikely, either by means of payments
based on the company’s financial per formance, payments made by sponsors, or the liquidation of
collateral. The creditworthiness of the company is impaired, with an increased likelihood of loss.
Major restructuring of the investment and/or operation is required, and a number of specific actions
(liquidation, recapitalization, etc.) may be taken. For projects classified as doubtful, an independent cash
flow analysis is per formed in accordance with ASC 310-10-35 to determine the necessar y allowance.

Loss

All or part of the Corporation’s loan is considered uncollectible. The project is likely to be in bankruptcy
and may have ceased operations. The liquidation value of collateral or recourse against guarantors
is insufficient for full recover y of the Corporation’s investment. For projects classified as Loss, an
independent cash flow analysis is per formed in accordance with ASC 310-10-35, to determine the
necessar y allowance.

Equity investments
As of December 31, 2015, the Corporation had ten direct equity investments (eight as of December 31, 2014) with a
carrying value of $20,429 ($12,151 as of December 31, 2014). The direct equity investments are reported at cost less
impairment. Other-than-temporary impairment losses for the year ended December 31, 2015 were $717 ($289 for the year
ended December 31, 2014).
The Corporation had twelve investments in LPs at fair value of $9,047 as of December 31, 2015 (ten at fair value of
$13,027 as of December 31, 2014). The Corporation’s investments in LPs may generally be liquidated over a period of
10 years with up to two one-year extensions.
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5. Receivables and Other Assets
Receivables and other assets are summarized below:
December 31
USD Thousands

2015

2014

$ 7,092

$ 8,000

1,459

3,299

Other current assets
Interest receivable on loan investments
Interest receivable on investment securities
Other current assets

9,325

8,560

17,876

19,859

Other noncurrent assets
Postretirement Benefit Plan, net asset

1,946

—

Other noncurrent assets

2,865

1,065

4,811

1,065

$22,687

$20,924

Total receivables and other assets

As of December 31, 2015, the Postretirement Benefit Plan net asset reflects the funded status of the Plan. Refer to Note 14.

6. Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities are summarized below:
December 31
USD Thousands
Pension Plan, net liability

2015

2014

$24,106

$22,221

Accounts payable and other liabilities

9,193

3,887

Deferred revenue

6,414

7,010

Employment benefits payable

5,940

5,052

Due to other IDB Group entities

2,216

2,507

—

2,680

$47,869

$43,357

Postretirement Benefit Plan, net liability
Total accounts payables and other liabilities

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Pension Plan net liability reflects the underfunded status of the Plan. As of
December 31, 2014, the Postretirement Benefit Plan net liability reflects the underfunded status of the Plan. Refer to
Note 14.
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7. Borrowings
Borrowings outstanding by currency are as follows:
December 31
2015
USD Thousands
U.S. dollar

2014

Amount
outstanding

Weighted
average cost

Amount
outstanding

Weighted
average cost

$539,693

0.66%

$1,026,057

0.78%

Mexican peso

46,380

3.49%

54,261

3.82%

Brazilian real

11,526

10.20%

16,945

10.20%

857

0.87%

1,338

1.07%

Euro

$598,456
Borrowings, short-term

$1,098,601

(57,761)

(533,957)

$540,695

Borrowings, long-term

$ 564,644

The Corporation’s overall funding plan considers the liquidity forecast and strategy. The current liquidity risk strategy
requires the Corporation to have sufficient liquidity available to cover projected operational liquidity needs for at least
18 months. The operational liquidity needs include projected disbursements, administrative and other expenses, and
maturing borrowings, effectively requiring that upcoming maturities are generally funded at least 18 months in advance.
The Corporation has available a renewable borrowing facility with the IDB amounting to $300,000, in place since 1997. In
August 2008, the Corporation borrowed $100,000 under this facility and $200,000 remain available for disbursement.
Borrowings under the IDB facility are due fifteen years after the respective disbursement. This facility has been renewed
four times and expires in November 2020. As of December 31, 2015, the Corporation borrowed $46,380 (800 million
Mexican pesos) from its foreign-currency line of credit. This facility is renewable and expires in June 2016. Other credit
facilities available amount to $320,000 as of December 31, 2015.
On November 16, 2012, the Corporation issued U.S.-dollar denominated, 3-month LIBOR plus 0.35% notes as part of its
Euro Medium-Term Note (EMTN) Program in the capital markets in the amount of $350,000, maturing in 2015, followed by
an additional $50,000 issue on February 19, 2013, which was issued at a premium, maturing in 2015. These notes
matured on November 16, 2015.
On October 2, 2014, the Corporation issued an additional $400,000 U.S.-dollar denominated, 3-month LIBOR plus 0.14%
notes under its EMTN Program, maturing in 2017. Interest on the notes is payable quarterly.
On April 27, 2012, the Corporation issued interbank reference rate (TIIE) plus 0.22% foreign-currency bonds in the amount of
$61,472 (800 million Mexican pesos) before underwriting and other issuance costs. These bonds matured on April 24, 2015.
The maturity structure of borrowings outstanding, excluding the amortization of debt issuance costs, is as follows:
USD Thousands
Borrowings

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Through 2023

$57,906

$400,000

$857

$—

$—

$140,000

$57,906

$400,000

$857

$—

$—

$140,000

For the year ended December 31, 2015, Borrowings-related expense includes interest expense of $9,008 that includes the
amortization of debt issuance costs of $331 ($12,014 for the year ended December 31, 2014 that includes debt issuance
costs of $557). The unamortized balance of the Corporation’s debt issuance cost asset amounts to $307 as of
December 31, 2015 ($640 as of December 31, 2014).
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8. Capital
The Corporation’s original authorized share capital was increased from $200 million to $705.9 million, equivalent to
70,590 shares, through a $500 million general capital increase approved in 1999 (GCI-I), and several special increases.
The increases allocated a total of $505.9 million for subscriptions by new and existing member countries, during the
subscription periods, as set forth in the corresponding resolutions. The Corporation issued full shares, with a par value
and issuance price of ten thousand dollars each, corresponding to these authorized share capital increases.
On March 30, 2015, the Boards of Governors (Board) of the Corporation and the IDB approved the Reorganization of the
IDB Group private sector activities into the Corporation and authorized the Corporation’s GCI–II. The GCI–II increases the
Corporation’s authorized capital stock by $2.03 billion, equivalent to 125,474 shares—80,662 shares corresponding to
new capital contributions payable by the countries (Annex A to the Board resolution) and 44,812 shares corresponding to
transfers from the IDB on behalf of its member countries (Annex B to the Board resolution)—with an issuance price of
$16,178.60 per share. The initial subscription period for Annex A shares concluded on October 27, 2015, and 54,762
shares were subscribed. On December 1, 2015, the Board of Executive Directors approved a reallocation proposal whereby
the 25,900 remaining Annex A shares were assigned for subscription. Subscribed shares are recorded at the date of the
subscription instrument at the stock issuance price and are expected to be paid in over time. Annex B shares will be
issued upon annual approval of transfers by the Board of Governors of the IDB beginning in 2018 and extending through
2025. With this capital increase, the Corporation’s total authorized shares amounts to 196,064.
Under the Agreement Establishing the Inter-American Investment Corporation, any member may withdraw from the
Corporation by notifying the Corporation’s principal office in writing of its intention to do so. Such withdrawal shall become
effective on the date specified in the notice but in no event prior to six months from the date on which such notice was
delivered to the Corporation. Even after withdrawing, a member shall remain liable for all obligations to the Corporation to
which it was subject on the date of delivery of the withdrawal notice.
In the event a member withdraws from the Corporation, the Corporation and the member may agree on the withdrawal from
membership and the repurchase of the shares of said member on terms appropriate under the circumstances. If such
agreement is not reached within three months of the date on which such member expresses its desire to withdraw from
membership, or within a term agreed upon between both parties, the repurchase price of the member’s shares shall be
equal to the book value thereof on the date when the member ceases to belong to the Corporation, such book value to be
determined by the Corporation’s audited financial statements. Payment for shares shall be made in such installments and at
such times, and in such available currencies as the Corporation shall determine, taking into account its financial position.
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The following table lists the capital stock subscribed and subscriptions receivable from members:

Shares
Argentina
Austria
Bahamas
Barbados
Belgium
Belize
Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela
Brazil
Canada
Chile
Colombia
Costa Rica
Denmark
Dominican Republic
Ecuador
El Salvador
Finland
France
Germany
Guatemala
Guyana
Haiti
Honduras
Israel
Italy
Jamaica
Japan
Mexico
Netherlands
Nicaragua
Nor way
Panama
Paraguay
People’s Republic of China
Peru
Plurinational State of Bolivia
Portugal
Republic of Korea
Spain
Suriname
Sweden
Switzerland
Trinidad and Tobago
United States
Uruguay
Total 2015
Total 2014

17,281
737
308
216
169
101
9,210
17,281
320
4,279
4,456
671
1,071
933
933
671
839
2,868
1,334
897
256
671
671
370
4,619
420
4,680
11,124
1,071
671
839
699
699
333
4,456
1,389
389
333
5,324
105
839
2,288
671
16,019
1,841
125,352
70,590

December 31
Additional
Amount
paid-in capital*
USD Thousands
$ 172,810
$ 56,794
7,370
2,422
3,080
1,013
2,160
710
1,690
—
1,010
—
92,100
30,269
172,810
56,794
3,200
1,050
42,790
14,062
44,560
14,643
6,710
2,206
10,710
—
9,330
3,065
9,330
3,064
6,710
2,206
8,390
2,756
28,680
4,362
13,340
—
8,970
2,947
2,560
840
6,710
2,206
6,710
2,206
3,700
1,217
46,190
15,181
4,200
—
46,800
13,519
111,240
36,559
10,710
—
6,710
2,206
8,390
2,756
6,990
2,298
6,990
2,298
3,330
1,093
44,560
14,643
13,890
4,566
3,890
1,279
3,330
1,094
53,240
17,498
1,050
—
8,390
2,756
22,880
7,519
6,710
2,206
160,190
—
18,410
6,049
$1,253,520
$338,352
$ 705,900
$      —

Receivable
from members**
$148,714
6,342
2,653
1,860
—
—
79,259
149,171
2,750
36,822
38,343
5,776
—
8,195
8,024
5,776
7,216
11,422
—
7,717
2,200
5,776
5,776
3,187
39,751
—
35,399
97,799
—
5,776
7,215
6,018
6,018
2,864
38,343
11,956
3,349
2,864
45,818
40
7,216
19,689
5,776
—
15,839
$888,709
$   7,547

*Represents the amount in addition to par value subscribed by member countries under GCI-II.
**Represents receivable from members under GCI-I and GCI-II.
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9. Measurements and Changes in Fair Value
The Corporation’s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been categorized based on a fair value hierarchy in
accordance with ASC Topic 820.
The following fair value hierarchy table presents information about the Corporation’s assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2015:

USD Thousands

Balance as of
December 31, 2015

Quoted prices in active
markets for identical
assets (Level 1)

Significant other
observable inputs
(Level 2)

$372,863

$—

$372,863

112,163

—

112,163

8,790

—

8,790

19,845

—

19,845

$513,661

$—

$513,661

ASSETS
Corporate securities
Agency securities
Government securities
Supranational securities

The following fair value hierarchy table presents information about the Corporation’s assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2014:

USD Thousands

Balance as of
December 31, 2014

Quoted prices in active
markets for identical
assets (Level 1)

Significant other
observable inputs
(Level 2)

$709,582

$—

$709,582

152,997

—

152,997

45,050

—

45,050

8,383

—

8,383

$916,012

$—

$916,012

ASSETS
Corporate securities
Agency securities
Supranational securities
Government securities

The following table presents gains and losses due to changes in fair value, including foreign currency impact, for items
measured at fair value for the year ended December 31, 2015:

USD Thousands
Corporate securities
Government securities

Changes in fair value
included in earnings
for the year
$   479
186

Supranational securities

41

Agency securities

36

Limited partnerships

(4,910)
$(4,168)
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The following table presents gains and losses due to changes in fair value, including foreign currency impact, for items
measured at fair value for the year ended December 31, 2014:

USD Thousands
Government securities
Corporate securities
Agency securities
Supranational securities
Limited partnerships

Changes in fair value
included in earnings
for the year
$   927
758
28
6
(1,876)
$ (157)

Certain of the Corporation’s financial instruments are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis but nevertheless are
recorded at amounts that approximate fair value due to their liquid or short-term nature. Such financial assets and financial
liabilities include: Cash and cash equivalents, Receivables and other assets, and Accounts payable and other liabilities.
At December 31, 2015, substantially all investment securities are valued based on quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities that are not active, or prices derived from alternative pricing models as these prices are not available from
market vendors. These methodologies apply to certain investments in non-U.S. government obligations, agencies, and
corporate bonds. Also included are commercial paper (CP) and certificates of deposit (CD) issued on a tailor-made basis
under large U.S.-based CP or CD programs. These securities are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and are
measured at fair value using valuation techniques consistent with the market and income approaches. There were no
transfers during the year ended December 31, 2015 (none during the year ended December 31, 2014).
The Corporation’s loans are generally carried at the principal amount outstanding. As of December 31, 2015, and for those
loans for which it is practicable to estimate fair value, the carrying amount of loan investments, plus accrued interest, was
$420,506 ($418,161 as of December 31, 2014), and their estimated fair value amounted to $416,982 ($422,044 as of
December 31, 2014). Management concluded that it is not practicable to determine the fair value of the remainder of the
loan portfolio, which included custom-tailored financing to small and medium-sized enterprises operating in the Corporation’s
regional member countries. As of December 31, 2015, the carrying value of this remainder portfolio, without including
accrued interest, was $542,683 ($636,559 as of December 31, 2014), with interest rates that range from 1.25% to 13.00%
(1.18% to 13.25% as of December 31, 2014) and maturities that range from less than 1 year to 18 years (less than 1 year
to 15 years as of December 31, 2014). Any excess or deficit resulting from the difference between the carrying amounts of
the loan portfolio and the fair value disclosed does not necessarily reflect the realizable values (since the Corporation
generally holds investments with contractual maturities with the aim of realizing their recorded values and, therefore,
maximizing the developmental aspects of the investment).
The Corporation’s borrowings are recorded at historical amounts unless elected for fair value accounting under ASC Topic 825,
Fair Value Option. The fair value of the Corporation’s borrowings is estimated using either quoted market prices or discounted
cash flow analyses based on the Corporation’s current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. As of
December 31, 2015, the fair value of the Corporation’s borrowings was $486,913 ($952,001 as of December 31, 2014).
The Corporation held no borrowings at fair value as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.
As a practical expedient, fair value for investments in LPs was determined using the estimated NAV provided by the LPs.
The NAVs that have been provided by the LPs are derived from the fair values of the underlying investments as of the
reporting date. All investments for which NAV is used as fair value (a) do not have a readily determinable fair value and
(b) either prepare financial statements consistent with the measurement principles of an investment company or have
the attributes of an investment company. Generally, LPs have finite lives and the Corporation does not sell or redeem its
investments in LPs. Proceeds are distributed to the Corporation as the LPs sell the underlying investment. Adjustments
to the net asset value are made when evidence indicates that fair value differs significantly from net asset value.
The carrying value of equity investments reported at cost amounted to $20,429 as of December 31, 2015 ($12,151 as
of December 31, 2014). For the Corporation’s direct equity investments, the investments are evaluated for impairment,
however it is not practicable to accurately determine a fair value in excess of cost as these are custom-tailored private
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placement transactions primarily for small and medium-sized and financial institutions enterprises operating in the
Corporation’s regional member countries.
The carrying value of equity investments reported at fair value amounted to $9,047 as of December 31, 2015 ($13,027
as of December 31, 2014). The amount of total net gains and losses for the year ended December 31, 2015, included
in Changes in fair value of equity investments attributable to the change in unrealized net loss relating to assets still held
at that date, was $4,743 ($1,692 unrealized net losses as of December 31, 2014). There were no investments in LPs
reported at cost as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

10. Guarantees
From time to time, the Corporation may provide financial guarantees for various purposes in return for a guarantee fee.
Guarantees entered into by the Corporation generally have maturities consistent with those of the loan portfolio. As of
December 31, 2015, the Corporation had no guarantee contracts outstanding (none as of December 31, 2014).
Additionally, no notices of default have been received since inception of the Corporation’s guarantee program.
The maximum potential exposure, which represents the amounts that could be lost under the guarantees in the event
there were a total default by the guaranteed party without taking into consideration possible recoveries under recourse
provisions or from collateral held or pledged, amounted to zero as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. There was no
provision for losses on guarantees in the statement of income as of December 31, 2015 (none as of December 31, 2014).
The estimated fair value of the guarantee liability is zero as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. One guarantee product
matured on October 17, 2014.

11. Contingencies
In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation is defendant or codefendant or party in various litigation matters
inherent to and typical of the operations in which it is engaged. In the opinion of the Corporation’s management, the
ultimate resolution of these legal proceedings would not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results
of operations, or cash flows of the Corporation.

12. Lending Arrangements
The Corporation mobilizes funds from commercial banks and other financial institutions in connection with certain of its
lending arrangements. These arrangements are administered and serviced by the Corporation on behalf of participants.
The arrangements are structured such that the participating lenders must fund their respective share of each loan and
there is no recourse to the Corporation.
Effective January 1, 2016 for a period of seven years, the Corporation will manage lending operations that may include
financing from the IDB or funds administered by the IDB.

13. Related-party Transactions
The Corporation obtains certain administrative and overhead services from the IDB in areas where common services can
be efficiently provided by the IDB. The Corporation has a lease agreement with the IDB for its headquarters office space
that will expire in 2020.
The Corporation paid the following amounts to the IDB for office space and certain administrative support services:
Year ended December 31
USD Thousands
Office space (headquarters and other)
Support ser vices
Other IDB ser vices
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2015

2014

$2,288

$2,210

793

773

413

318

$3,494

$3,301

Expected payments under the current lease agreement with the IDB are as follows:
USD Thousands
Office space (headquarters)

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

$2,189

$2,254

$2,322

$2,392

$2,463

$2,189

$2,254

$2,322

$2,392

$2,463

Payables due to the IDB were $2,216 as of December 31, 2015 ($2,507 as of December 31, 2014). Refer to Note 6.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Corporation had borrowed $100,000 from the IDB credit facility. Refer to Note 7.
The Corporation provides advisory services to IDB Group entities. The Corporation has received full payment for fees earned
as of December 31, 2015, under these arrangements, for a total amount of $100 ($100 for the year ended December 31,
2014). Following the Reorganization of the IDB Group private sector activities, in addition to the NSG loan servicing
agreement that commenced on January 1, 2016 and described in Note 1, the IDB and the Corporation are in the process
of negotiating updated service level agreements for the provisions of certain additional services that include human
resources and information technology support that are expected to significantly increase the Corporation’s operating
expenses for services received from the IDB as well as significantly increase the Corporation’s advisory services income
for services provided to the IDB that will be established in 2016 and renewable forward.

14. Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans
The IDB sponsors a defined benefit plan (the Pension Plan) covering substantially all staff of the Corporation and the IDB.
The Pension Plan covers international and local employees. Under the Pension Plan, benefits are based on years of service
and average compensation, with the staff contributing a fixed percentage of remuneration and the Corporation and the IDB
contributing the remainder of the actuarially determined cost of future Pension Plan benefits. Any and all contributions to
the Pension Plan are irrevocable and are held separately in retirement funds solely for the payment of benefits under the
Pension Plan.
The Corporation also provides certain health care and other benefits to retirees. All current staff who contribute to the
Pension Plan while in active service and who meet certain requirements are eligible for postretirement benefits under
the Postretirement Benefit Plan (PRBP). Retirees contribute toward the PRBP based on an established premium schedule.
The Corporation contributes the remainder of the actuarially determined cost of future health and other benefits. While
all contributions and all other assets and income of the PRBP remain the property of the Corporation, they are held and
administered separately and apart from the other property and assets of the Corporation solely for the purpose of
payment of benefits under the PRBP.
Since both the IDB and the Corporation participate in the Pension Plan and the PRBP, each employer presents its respective
share of these plans. The amounts presented reflect the Corporation’s proportionate share of costs, assets, and obligations
of the Pension Plan and the PRBP in accordance with ASC Topic 715, Compensation—Retirement Benefits.
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Obligations and funded status
The Corporation uses a December 31 measurement date for the Pension Plan and the PRBP. The following table summarizes
the change in benefit obligation, change in plan assets, funded status of the Pension Plan and the PRBP, and the amount
recognized on the balance sheet:
Pension Plan
USD Thousands

2015

PRBP
2014

2015

2014

Reconciliation of benefit obligation
Obligation as of Januar y 1

$(106,553)

$ (85,689)

$(66,007)

$(49,150)

Ser vice cost

(4,587)

(3,256)

(2,512)

(1,900)

Interest cost

(4,233)

(3,973)

(2,645)

(2,439)

Participants’ contributions

(1,051)

(999)

—

—
1,071

Plan amendments
Net transfers between IDB and IIC

—
(34)

(7)

2,537

(383)

—
5,356

Actuarial gains/(losses)

5,486

(13,527)

Benefits paid

1,913

1,281

—

—

Retiree Part D subsidy
Obligation as of December 31

534

—
(14,051)
464

(16)

(2)

(109,059)

(106,553)

(62,753)

(66,007)

84,332

77,008

63,327

58,523

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets as of Januar y 1
Net transfers between IDB and IIC
Actual return on plan assets

34
(727)

383

—

5,145

(870)

(1,281)

(534)

—
4,059

Benefits paid

(1,913)

Participants’ contributions

1,051

999

—

—

Employer contributions

2,176

2,078

2,776

1,209

84,953

84,332

64,699

63,327

Fair value of plan assets as of December 31

(464)

Funded status
Funded/(Under funded) status as of December 31
Net amount recognized as of December 31

(24,106)

(22,221)

1,946

(2,680)

$ (24,106)

$ (22,221)

$ 1,946

$ (2,680)

Amounts recognized as (liabilities)/assets consist of:
Plan benefits assets/(liabilities)
Net amount recognized as of December 31

(24,106)

(22,221)

1,946

(2,680)

$ (24,106)

$ (22,221)

$ 1,946

$ (2,680)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income consist of:
Net actuarial gains/(losses)

12,163

13,567

10,291

Prior ser vice costs

—

7

Net initial asset

—

—

—

—

$ 12,163

$ 13,574

$ 6,818

$ 11,460

Net amount recognized as of December 31

(3,473)

12,522
(1,062)

The accumulated benefit obligation attributable to the Corporation for the Pension Plan was $92,617 and $90,244 as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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Components of net periodic benefit cost
Net periodic benefit cost consists of the following components:

USD Thousands
Ser vice cost

Pension Plan

PRBP

Year ended December 31

Year ended December 31

2015

2014

2015

2014

$ 4,587

$ 3,256

$ 2,512

$ 1,900

Interest cost

4,233

3,973

2,645

2,439

Expected return on plan assets

(4,685)

(4,524)

(3,512)

(3,501)

Amortization of:
Transition obligation
Unrecognized net actuarial loss

—

—

—

174

1,330

30

1,257

197

7

7

(126)

—

$ 5,472

$ 2,742

$ 2,776

$ 1,209

Prior ser vice (credit)/cost
Net periodic benefit cost

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in Other comprehensive income/(loss):

USD Thousands
Net actuarial (gain)/loss

Pension Plan

PRBP

Year ended December 31

Year ended December 31

2015

2014

2015

2014

$   (74)

$12,905

$  (974)

$13,493

Current year prior ser vice cost

—

7

Prior ser vice credit

—

—

—

—

—
(2,537)

—
(1,062)

Amortization of:
Transition obligation
Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Prior ser vice (credit)/cost

(1,330)

(30)

(7)

(7)

—
(1,257)
126

(183)
(197)
—

Total recognized in Other
comprehensive (income)/loss

$(1,411)

$12,875

$(4,642)

$12,051

Total recognized in Net periodic
benefit cost and Other
comprehensive (income)/loss

$ 4,061

$15,617

$(1,866)

$13,260

The estimated net actuarial gain or loss, prior service cost, and net initial obligation for the Pension Plan and the PRBP
that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost during 2016 is $533
for the Pension Plan and $286 for the PRBP.

Actuarial assumptions
The actuarial assumptions used are based on financial market interest rates, past experience, and management’s best
estimate of future benefit changes and economic conditions. Changes in these assumptions will impact future benefit costs
and obligations. Actuarial gains and losses occur when actual results are different from expected results. Unrecognized
actuarial gains and losses that exceed 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation or market-related value of the plan assets
at the beginning of 2015 are amortized over the average remaining service period of active participants expected to receive
benefits under the Pension Plan and PRBP, which approximates 11.7 and 11.8 years, respectively.
Unrecognized prior service credit is amortized over 8.4 years for the PRBP.
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The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation and the net periodic benefit cost were as follows:
Pension Plan

PRBP

2015

2014

2015

2014

Discount rate

4.24%

3.88%

4.35%

3.97%

Rate of compensation increase

4.11%

4.16%

Inflation rate

2.15%

2.20%

2.15%

2.20%

Weighted average assumptions used to determine
benefit obligation as of December 31

Pension Plan

PRBP

2015

2014

2015

2014

Discount rate

3.88%

4.85%

3.97%

4.99%

Expected long-term return on plan assets

6.25%

6.75%

6.25%

6.75%

Rate of compensation increase

4.16%

4.30%

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net
periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31

The expected yearly rate of return on plan assets reflects the historical rate of return of asset categories employed by
the plans and conservatively applying those returns in formulating the investment policy asset allocations. The discount
rate used in determining the benefit obligation is selected by reference to the year-end yield of AA corporate bonds with
maturities that correspond to the estimated duration of the payment of benefits. For the assumed rate of inflation, the
Corporation has established a process by which a range of inputs is reviewed, including 10-year forward looking expert
opinion forecasts, the average of the 10 year and 30 year U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (U.S. TIPS) breakeven
inflation rate and historical averages.
For participants assumed to retire in the United States, the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was determined
using the following health care cost trend rates:
PRBP
2015

2014

Rate to which the cost trend rate is expected to decline (ultimate trend rate)

4.50%

4.50%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

2023

2019

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year
Medical, Non-Medicare

6.50%

7.00%

Medical, Medicare

3.75%

6.00%

Prescription drugs

10.00%

6.00%

Dental

5.00%

5.00%

Retirement cost outside U.S.*

9.00%

6.50%

*Refers to all services provided to participants assumed to retire outside the United States.

For those participants assumed to retire outside of the United States, a 9.00% and 6.50% health care cost trend rate was
used for 2015 and 2014, respectively with an ultimate trend rate of 4.50% in 2023.
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the PRBP. A one-percentagepoint change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:
One-percentage-point increase

One-percentage-point decrease

Year ended December 31
USD Thousands
Effect on total of ser vice and interest cost components
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation

2015

2014

2015

2014

$ 1,153

$ 1,359

$   (817)

$   (951)

13,985

15,917

(10,211)

(11,515)

Plan assets
The assets of the Pension Plan and the PRBP are managed primarily by investment managers employed by the IDB who
are provided with investment guidelines that take into account the Pension Plan and PRBP investment policies. Investment
policies with long-term strategic asset allocations have been developed so that there is an expectation of sufficient returns
to meet long-term funding needs, with 65% of assets invested in return strategies. Such policies also allocate 35% of
assets in fixed income and U.S. inflation-indexed bonds to partially hedge the interest rate and inflation exposure in the
Pension Plan and PRBP’s liabilities and to protect against disinflation.
The Pension Plan’s assets are invested with a target allocation of between 45% and 61% to a well- diversified pool of
developed and emerging markets equities, and exposures of 3% to emerging markets debt, 3% to commodity index
futures, 0% to 2% to public real estate, 2% to 3% to private real estate, and 0% to 2% to high-yield fixed income. The
Pension Plan’s assets are also invested with exposures of 5% to core fixed-income, 15% to long-duration fixed income,
and 15% to U.S. inflation-indexed securities.
The PRBP’s assets are invested with a target allocation of between 46% to 62% exposure to a well-diversified pool of
developed and emerging markets equities, and exposures of 3% to emerging markets debt, 3% to commodity index
futures, 3% to public real estate, and 2% to high-yield fixed income. PRBP assets are also invested with exposures of
15% to long-duration fixed income, 5% to core fixed income and 15% to U.S. inflation-indexed securities.
The investment policy target allocations as of December 31, 2015, are as follows:
Pension Plan

PRBP

U.S. equities

25%

26%

Non-U.S. equities

24%

24%

U.S. inflation-indexed bonds

15%

15%

Long-duration fixed income bonds

15%

15%

Core fixed income

5%

5%

Emerging markets equities

4%

4%

Emerging markets debt

3%

3%

Commodity index futures

3%

3%

High-yield fixed income

2%

2%

Public real estate

2%

3%

Private real estate

2%

0%

Risk management is achieved by the regular monitoring of each asset category level and investment manager. The
investments are rebalanced toward the policy target allocations using cash flows and through monthly rebalancing
exercises. Investment managers are generally not allowed to invest more than 5% of their respective portfolios in the
securities of a single issuer other than the U.S. Government. The use of derivatives by an investment manager for the
Pension Plan and PRBP is specifically approved by the Pension Plan and PRBP’s Managing Committees.
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The following tables set forth the categories of investments of the Pension Plan and the PRBP as of December 31, 2015
and 2014, which are measured at fair value and presented together with their weighted average allocation, by level within
the fair value hierarchy. These investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement, except for investment funds whose classification within the fair value hierarchy
depends on the ability to redeem their corresponding shares at their net asset value in the near term.
Pension Plan
USD Thousands

Weighted average
allocations

Level 1

Level 2

December 31, 2015

$ 4,460

$16,541

$21,001

25%

3,161

16,740

19,901

23%

—

3,187

3,187

4%

1,747

—

1,747

2%

4,385

8,206

12,591

15%

—

4,473

4,473

5%

Equity and equity funds:
U.S. equities
Non-U.S. equities
Emerging markets equities
Public real estate
Government bonds and diversified bond funds:
Long-duration fixed income funds
Core fixed-income bonds
High-yield fixed income bonds
U.S. inflation-indexed bonds
Emerging markets debt
Commodity index futures
Short-term investment funds

—

1,582

1,582

2%

12,599

—

12,599

15%

—

2,511

2,511

3%

—

22

22

0%

1,680

1,237

2,917

3%

—

—

2,478

3%

Real estate investment funds:
Private real estate
Other assets/(liabilities), net *

—

—

$28,032

$54,499

(56)
$84,953

0%
100%

*Includes receivables and payables carried at amounts that approximate fair value.

Pension Plan
USD Thousands

Level 1

Level 2

December 31, 2014

Weighted average
allocations

$ 4,346

$16,606

$20,952

25%

3,336

16,370

19,706

23%

—

3,278

3,278

4%

1,854

—

1,854

2%
16%

Equity and equity funds:
U.S. equities
Non-U.S. equities
Emerging markets equities
Public real estate
Government bonds and diversified bond funds:
4,872

8,593

13,465

Core fixed-income bonds

Long-duration fixed income funds

—

3,836

3,836

5%

High-yield fixed income bonds

—

1,601

1,601

2%

12,628

—

12,628

15%

—

2,586

2,586

3%

1,678

641

2,319

3%

U.S. inflation-indexed bonds
Emerging markets debt
Short-term investment funds
Real estate investment funds:
Private real estate
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—

—

2,107

2%

$28,714

$53,511

$84,332

100%

PRBP
USD Thousands

Weighted average
allocations

Level 1

Level 2

December 31, 2015

$     —

$16,660

$16,660

26%

—

15,106

15,106

23%

—

2,354

2,354

4%

2,013

—

2,013

3%
14%

Equity and equity funds:
U.S. equities
Non-U.S. equities
Emerging markets equities
Public real estate investment funds
Government bonds and diversified bond funds:
3,179

6,114

9,293

High-yield debt

Long-duration fixed income bonds

—

1,193

1,193

2%

Emerging markets debt

—

2,024

2,024

3%

Core fixed-income bonds

—

3,256

3,256

5%

9,592

—

9,592

15%

2,567

(42)

2,525

4%

U.S. inflation-indexed bonds
Short-term investment funds
Other assets/(liabilities), net *

—

—

683

1%

$17,351

$46,665

$64,699

100%

*Includes receivables and payables carried at amounts that approximate fair value.

PRBP
Level 1

Level 2

December 31, 2014

Weighted average
allocations

$     —

$16,943

$16,943

27%

Non-U.S. equities

—

15,148

15,148

24%

Emerging markets equities

—

2,340

2,340

4%

2,129

—

2,129

3%

3,559

6,364

9,923

16%

USD Thousands
Equity and equity funds:
U.S. equities

Public real estate investment funds
Government bonds and diversified bond funds:
Long-duration fixed income bonds
High-yield debt

—

1,218

1,218

2%

Emerging markets debt

—

1,925

1,925

3%

—

3,162

3,162

5%

9,002

—

9,002

14%

Core fixed-income bonds
U.S. inflation-indexed bonds
Short-term investment funds

1,537

—

1,537

2%

$16,227

$47,100

$63,327

100%

Investment securities that are measured at fair value based on quoted market prices in active markets, a valuation technique
consistent with the market approach, include U.S. equities, non-U.S. equities, fixed-income mutual funds, and U.S. Treasury
inflation-indexed bonds. Such securities are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
Proprietary investment managers’ commingled funds investing in U.S. equities, global equities, emerging markets debt, fixed
income commingled funds, commodity index futures and/or short term debt investments, which are not publicly-traded, are
measured at fair value based on the net asset value of the investment funds and are classified as Level 2, as they are
redeemable with the investee in the near term at their net asset value per share at the measurement date. This valuation
technique is consistent with the market approach.
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(dollars in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)
Proprietary investment managers’ commingled private real estate investment funds are measured at fair value based on
the net asset value of these investment funds. The valuation assumptions used by these investment funds include market
value of similar properties, discounted cash flows, replacement cost, and debt on property (direct capitalization). These
methodologies are valuation techniques consistent with the market and cost approaches.

Cash flows
Contributions from the Corporation to the Pension Plan and the PRBP during 2016 are expected to be approximately $7,740
and $4,485, respectively. All contributions are made in cash.

Estimated future benefit payments
The following table summarizes the benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, expected to
be paid in each of the next five years and in the aggregate for the subsequent five years. These amounts are based on the
same assumptions used to measure the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2015.
Pension Plan

PRBP

Januar y 1, 2016–December 31, 2016

$ 2,471

$ 854

Januar y 1, 2017–December 31, 2017

2,700

964

Januar y 1, 2018–December 31, 2018

2,848

1,068

Januar y 1, 2019–December 31, 2019

3,149

1,193

Januar y 1, 2020–December 31, 2020

3,356

1,297

Januar y 1, 2021–December 31, 2025

21,965

8,931

USD Thousands
Estimated future benefit payments

15. Management of External Funds
The Corporation administers on behalf of other entities, which include donors and member countries, funds restricted
for specific uses that include the cofinancing of certain projects, technical studies for borrowers, project-related studies,
and research and training programs. These funds are held in trust by the Corporation and are not commingled with the
Corporation’s funds, nor are they included in the assets of the Corporation. The Corporation receives a management fee
that is generally a percentage of the funds received. This fee is included as an advisory service income in the statement
of income.

16. Subsequent Events
Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 8, 2016, which is the date the financial statements were
issued. There are no subsequent events that require disclosure under ASC Topic 855, Subsequent Events.
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Contact Information
Headquarters

1350 New York Avenue, N.W.
Washington, DC 20577
United States of America
Tel.: +1 (202) 623-3900
Fax: +1 (202) 623-3815

Argentina

Costa Rica

Nicaragua

Esmeralda 130 Piso 17
C1035ABD, Buenos Aires
Tel.: + (54 11) 4320-1800
Fax: + (54 11) 4320-1831/7

Centro Corporativo El Cedral
Edificio A. Piso 4
300 mts Este del Peaje
Autopista Próspero Fernández
Trejos Montealegre, Escazú
Apartado postal 1343-1250
San José
Tel.: + (506) 2588-8748
Fax: + (506) 2288-7028

Boulevard Jean Paul Genie
de la Rotonda Jean Paul Genie
970 mts al oeste (M/D)
Managua
Tel.: + (505) 2264-9180

Bolivia

Av. 6 de Agosto # 2818,
Zona de San Jorge
La Paz
Tel: + (591)-22177700
Fax: + (591)-22391089
Chile

Avda. Pedro de Valdivia 0193
Pisos 10 y 11
Providencia
Santiago
Tel.: + (562) 2431-3707/3719
Fax: + (562) 2374-2436
Colombia

Carrera 7 No. 71-21, Torre B
Piso 19
Edificio Davivienda
Bogotá
Tel.: + (571) 325-7000
Fax: + (571) 325-7057

El Salvador

Edificio World Trade Center
Torre 1 4º Nivel
Calle El Mirador y 89 Avenida Norte
San Salvador
Tel.: + (503) 2233-8900 ext. 2201
Fax: + (503) 2233-8921
Mexico

Avenida Paseo de la Reforma Nº 222
Piso 11 Colonia Juárez
Delegación Cuauhtémoc
México, D.F. 06600
Tel.: + (52 55) 5141-2492

Paraguay

Quesada 4616 esq. Legión Civil
Extranjera – Piso 1
Asunción
Tel.: + (595 21) 616-2320
Fax: + (595 21) 616-2261
Peru

Calle Dean Valdivia No. 148
Piso 10
Lima 27
Tel.: + (511) 215-7800
Fax: + (511) 442-3466
Uruguay

Rincón 640
11.000 Montevideo
Tel.: + (598) 2915-3696
Fax: + (598) 2916-2607
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